Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society (1995), 113: 289-328. With 21 figures

# Phylogenetic systematics of the reptantian Decapoda (Crustacea, Malacostraca)

# GERHARD SCHOLTZ AND STEFAN RICHTER

Freie Universität Berlin, Institut für Zoologie, Königin-Luise-Str. 1-3, D-14195 Berlin, Germany

Received June 1993; accepted for publication January 1994

Although the biology of the reptantian Decapoda has been much studied, the last comprehensive review of reptantian systematics was published more than 80 years ago. We have used cladistic methods to reconstruct the phylogenetic system of the reptantian Decapoda. We can show that the Reptantia represent a monophyletic taxon. The classical groups, the 'Palinura', 'Astacura' and 'Anomura' are paraphyletic assemblages. The Polychelida is the sister-group of all other reptantians. The Astacida is not closely related to the Homarida, but is part of a large monophyletic taxon which also includes the Thalassinida, Anomala and Brachyura. The Anomala and Brachyura are sister-groups and the Thalassinida is the sister-group of oth of them. Based on our reconstruction of the sister-group relationships within the Reptantia, we discuss alternative hypotheses of reptantian interrelationships, the systematic position of the Reptantia within the decapods, and draw some conclusions concerning the habits and appearance of the reptantian stem species.

ADDITIONAL KEY WORDS:--Palinura – Astacura – Anomura – Brachyura – monophyletic – paraphyletic – cladistics.

# CONTENTS

Introduction						289
Material and methods						290
Techniques and animals						290
Outgroup comparison						291
Taxon names and classification						292
Results						292
The phylogenetic system of the reptantian Decapoda .						292
Characters and taxa						293
Conclusions						317
'Palinura' is not a monophyletic taxon						317
'Astacura' and the unresolved relationships of the Astacida						317
'Anomura' and the phylogenetic position of the Thalassinida						320
The monophyly of the Brachyura and the phylogeny of the 'D	rom	iace	a'			321
Reptantian monophyly and a possible sister-group						323
The reptantian ground pattern						323
Acknowledgements						324
References						324

### INTRODUCTION

Decapods, and reptantians in particular, are the best known crustaceans in that crabs, crayfishes, and lobsters represent 'typical' crustaceans to many people

0024-4082/95/030289+40 \$08.00/0

© 1995 The Linnean Society of London

### G. SCHOLTZ AND S. RICHTER

and have significant economic importance. Many reptantian species are common laboratory animals and their physiology, morphology and behaviour have been well investigated. Body form and habits are diverse, from lobsters with a well developed pleon to crabs with a ventrally folded reduced pleon, and from deep sea bottom dwellers to burrowing filter feeders, shell inhabitants and pelagic swimmers. Against this background it is surprising that in the last 85 years so little attention has been paid to the phylogenetic relationships of the reptantian decapods, although several recent systematic studies have been undertaken for 'natant' decapods (Burkenroad, 1963, 1981; Felgenhauer & Abele, 1983; Abele & Felgenhauer, 1986; Christoffersen, 1988a; Kim & Abele, 1990; Abele, 1991). These show that the 'Natantia' of Boas (1880) do not represent a monophyletic taxon. The most recent work on reptantians, however, is limited to some classificatory listings (de Saint Laurent, 1979b; Bowman & Abele, 1982; Abele, 1983; Schram, 1986). The classical investigations of Boas (1880), Ortmann (1896) and Borradaile (1907) are still the main source of reptantian systematics for researchers and textbooks (e.g. Balss, 1957; Kaestner, 1967, 1970; McLaughlin, 1980; Barnes, 1987). However, the systematic position of several taxa has been the subject of controversy since then. Contentious matters concern the inclusion of polychelids in the Palinura (Borradaile, 1907; Burkenroad, 1981; Abele, 1991); the systematic position of the thalassinids, whose monophyletic status has been doubted (Gurney, 1942; de Saint Laurent, 1973) and which have been placed within the 'Anomura' (e.g. Borradaile, 1907; Martin & Abele, 1986) or excluded from them (e.g. Burkenroad, 1963, 1981; Kaestner, 1970); and the question of the relationships of the dromiaceans to the Brachyura (e.g. Gurney, 1942; Guinot, 1978, 1979; de Saint Laurent, 1979b, 1980a; Rice, 1983; Williamson, 1988; Martin, 1991; Jamieson, 1991; Abele, 1991; Spears, Abele & Kim, 1992). The monophyly of the Reptantia has also been questioned (Beurlen & Glaessner, 1930; Felgenhauer & Abele, 1983; Abele, 1991), and others include the Stenopodidea within the reptantians (Gurney, 1942; de Saint Laurent, 1979b). This situation led Schram (1986) to declare that the systematics of the Reptantia was a "morass" and that a phylogenetic analysis of the group as a whole is badly needed.

We present here the phylogenetic systematics of the reptantian Decapoda, reconstructed for the first time according to the methods of Hennig (1950, 1966). Our analysis reveals a monophyletic origin of the Reptantia and that the classical groups 'Palinura', 'Astacura', and 'Anomura' represent paraphyletic assemblages which should be abandoned within a phylogenetic system. The systematic position of the freshwater crayfishes remains uncertain.

### MATERIAL AND METHODS

### Techniques and animals

We examined specimens from our own collections and from the Museum für Naturkunde, Berlin; Zoologische Staatssammlung, Munich; Zoologisk Museum, Copenhagen; Smithsonian Institution, Washington; and Sammlung des Instituts für Zoologie der Freien Universität, Berlin. The morphological investigations and photography were done with dissecting microscopes (ROW and Wild M5),

microscope (Zeiss Axiophot), and a scanning electron microscope (SEM) (Philips). Whole animals were photographed with an Olympus camera (OM2). Some dissected specimens were treated with KOH to remove all soft parts. For SEM studies, specimens or parts of them were dehydrated in an ethanol series, transferred to acetone, and cleaned by sonification. After critical point or air drying, preparations were gold-coated. We also used data from the literature. Where possible, we confirmed existing descriptions by reference to our own material.

We examined the following reptantian species:

Polychelida: Polycheles typhlops Heller, 1862

Achelata: *Palinurellus gundlachi* von Martens, 1878, *Palinurus versicolor* (Latreille, 1804), *Scyllarus arctus* (Linnaeus, 1758), *Ibacus peronii* Leach, 1815

Homarida: Homarus gammarus (Linnaeus, 1758), Homarus americanus H. Milne Edwards, 1837, Nephrops norvegicus (Linnaeus, 1758), Nephropsis stewarti Wood-Mason, 1872, Thaumastocheles zaleucus (Thomson, 1873), Enoplometopus debelius Holthuis, 1983

Astacida: Astacus leptodactylus Eschscholz, 1823, Orconectes limosus (Rafinesque, 1817), Cherax destructor Clark, 1936

Thalassinida: *Callianassa australiensis* (Dana, 1852), *Calocaris macandreae* Bell, 1846, *Axius gundlachi* (von Martens, 1872), *Axius stirhynchus* Leach, 1815, *Upogebia pusilla* (Petagna, 1792), *Jaxea nocturna* Nardo, 1847, *Thalassina anomala* (Herbst, 1804)

Anomala: Galathea intermedia Lilljeborg, 1851, Galathea squamitera Leach, 1814, Munida rugosa (Fabricius, 1775), Pisidia longicornis (Linnaeus, 1767), Petrolisthes lamarckii (Leach, 1820), Albunea symnista (Linnaeus, 1766), Emerita sp., Aegla sp., Birgus latro (Linnaeus, 1767), Lithodes maja (Linnaeus, 1758), Pagurus bernhardus (Linnaeus, 1758), Pylocheles miersi Alcock & Anderson, 1898, Pomatocheles jeffreysii Miers, 1879, Lomis hirta (Lamarck, 1818)

Brachyura: *Homolodromia bouvieri* Doflein, 1904, *Homola barbata* (Fabricius, 1793), *Dromia personata* (Linnaeus, 1759), *Ranina ranina* (Linnaeus, 1758), *Medorippe lanata* (Linnaeus, 1767), *Hyas araneus* (Linnaeus, 1758), *Pilumnus hirtellus* (Linnaeus, 1761), *Xantho poressa* (Olivi, 1792), *Carcinus maenas* (Linnaeus, 1758)

# Outgroup comparison

Phylogenetic studies by Burkenroad (1963, 1981), Abele & Felgenhauer (1986), Christoffersen (1988a), and Abele (1991) revealed convincingly that the 'Natantia' of Boas (1880), which comprise Dendrobranchiata, Caridea, and Stenopodidea, do not represent a monophyletic taxon. According to these authors, the Dendrobranchiata is the sister-group of the Pleocyemata which includes the Caridea, Stenopodidea and Reptantia. Apart from several other apomorphies (Christoffersen, 1988a), the pleocyemates are mainly unified by the apomorphic character of egg incubation on the pleopods (Burkenroad, 1963). For outgroup comparison (Watrous & Wheeler, 1981) we examined species of the Dendrobranchiata, Caridea and Stenopodidea, as well as data from the literature concerning these groups. Because of the paraphyly of the 'Natantia', characters that occur in all 'natantian' groups are regarded as plesiomorphic. The following species were examined:

Dendrobranchiata: *Penaeus* sp., *Euricyonia* sp. Caridea: *Macrobrachium novaehollandiae* (De Man, 1908), *Crangon crangon* (Linnaeus 1758), *Alpheus sublucanus* (Forsköl, 1775) Stenopodidea: *Stenopus hispidus* (Olivier, 1811)

# Taxon names and classification

As traditional classification causes fruitless debates concerning the ranking of taxa, we followed the lead given by Griffith (1973, 1976) and Ax (1987) and abandoned classificatory ranks in our phylogenetic analysis. To make this principle transparent we have chosen the ending -a for all monophyletic groups in our system. Apart from new names we also changed the endings of traditional names to -a in order to avoid the suggestion of any ranking (compare Burkenroad (1981) who changed the name Thalassinidae of Boas (1880) to Thalassinida).

### RESULTS

# The phylogenetic system of the reptantian Decapoda

The phylogenetic analysis presented results in the following system. The corresponding phylogenetic tree is depicted in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Phylogenetic tree of the reptantian Decapoda. The numbers stand for the apomorphies of the monophyletic taxa (see text and Table 1).

292

Reptantia Polychelida Eureptantia *nov.* Achelata *nov.* Macrochelata *nov.* Homarida Fractosternalia *nov.* Astacida *inc. sed.* Thalassinida Meiura *nov.* Anomala Brachyura

This phylogenetic system is based on the characters listed and discussed in the following paragraphs. A summary is given in Table 1.

# Characters and taxa

Reptantia

The taxon Reptantia introduced by Boas (1880) is clearly monophyletic. Reptantians share a number of undoubtedly apomorphic characters (A1–9).

(1) The body, and the pleon in particular, is dorsoventrally flattened (depressed) (Fig. 2A). The laterally compressed body (pleon) of dendrobranchiates and carideans (Fig. 2A) is plesiomorphic.

(2) The exoskeleton is heavy and strongly calcified. Except for some thalassinids and the asymmetrical hermit crabs with soft cuticles, this is true for most reptantians. The original condition is a relatively soft cuticle like that of 'natant' decapods.

(3) The anterior articulation of the mandibles is formed by an elongated process of the molar region extending dorsally from the palp (Fig. 9). We found this process in polychelids and most Eureptantia (the thalassinid *Upogebia* is an exception (Fig. 9E)), but not in stenopodids (see also Bruce & Baba, 1973; Manning & Chace, 1990), dendrobranchiates (Fig. 9A), or carideans (see also Balss, 1940; Schram, 1986; Felgenhauer & Abele, 1989).

(4) The coxo-sternal joints of the pereiopods are articulated so that the legs move anteroposteriorly. This is true for all investigated species and is correlated with walking in the benthic reptantians. In dendrobranchiates, carideans and stenopodids the legs move in a more mediolateral direction, a motion that could be related to the plesiomorphic swimming habits of these forms.

(5) The fifth pereiopod is a specialized chelate or subchelate grooming appendage (Fig. 3). Restricted to females in polychelids, achelates and enoplometopodids (see also Holthuis, 1983), in the other taxa this character is shared by both sexes. Secondary reduction occurs in the Brachyura and freshwater crayfishes (Fig. 3) (see below). A chelate grooming appendage (5th pereiopod) was not found in any of the non-reptantian decapods (see also Bauer, 1981; 1989); we regard this lack of chelae as plesiomorphic.

(6) The 1st pleomere is shorter than the rest (Fig. 2A) and forms anterior lobes which overlap the posterior lateral margin of the carapace (Fig. 2A, B). In this way a stable connection between carapace and pleon is achieved with



Figure 2. Reptantian characters. (A) Posterior part of the bodies of the caridean shrimp *Macrobrachium novashollandiae* (below) and the reptantian *Polycheles typhlops* (above), showing the apomorphic flattened body, stronger cuticle and short 1st pleon segment with the lateral lobes of the Reptantia. Note that in both animals the 2nd pleonic pleuron is extended anteriorly and that both telsons are narrow and triangular. (B) Articulation between the posterior carapace margin (cp) and the overlapping lateral lobe of the 1st pleon segment (pl 1) of *Oreonectes limosus* (anterior is left, dorsal is up). The pleuron of the 2nd pleomere (pl 2) is extended anteriorly. (SEM). (C) Mid-lateral hinge between 1st and 2nd pleon segment of *Polycheles* (anterior is left, dorsal is up). This type of articulation is plesiomorphic within decapods and corresponding hinges can be seen in the Dendrobranchiata. (SEM) (compare Fig. 13).

the lobes forming lateral joints. This device can be found on the 1st pleomere in most reptantians. The lateral overlapping lobes are somewhat reduced in several thalassinids (e.g. *Callianassa*) and lacking in some anomalans (hermit crabs, hippoids) and most Brachyura (vestiges of overlapping lobes were found in *Homola barbata*). These alterations can be related to the reduction of the pleon in these taxa and are obviously secondary, as can be concluded from the relationships within the Reptantia. The plesiomorphic condition is found in Dendrobranchiata and Caridea and is characterized by a relatively large 1st pleomere (Fig. 2A). Although in some groups the large pleura of the 1st pleomere do overlap the carapace (e.g. Crangonidae; see also Chase & Kensley, 1992), in no case is an articulation formed like that of reptantians. The 1st pleomere of some stenopodids (e.g. *Stenopus hispidus*) is somewhat reduced in size, but the pleura do not overlap the posterior carapace margin.

(7) The brain of reptantians is wider than long. This is due to the lateral orientation of the neuropil of the second antenna (Sandeman, Scholtz & Sandeman, 1993). Originally, the decapod brain is elongate, as in dendrobranchiates, carideans and stenopodids (Sandeman *et al.*, 1993).



Figure 3. Propodus and dactylus of the 5th pereiopod of various reptantian species (SEM). (A) Polycheles typhlops. (B) Thalassinida, *Callianassa australiensis* (most setae have been removed). (C) Homarida, *Nephrops norvegicus*. (D) Anomala, *Munida rugosa*. (E) Astacida, *Cherax destructor*. (F) Thalassinida, *Axius gundlachi*.

(8) During copulation both partners lie oriented head-to-head with their ventral surfaces opposed, the male usually in the uppermost position (e.g. Herrick, 1895; Zehnder, 1934; Bott, 1940; Berry, 1970; Donaldson & Adams, 1989). In dendrobranchiates (e.g. de Saint-Brisson, 1985; Bauer, 1992), the carideans (e.g. Bauer, 1976; Boddeke, Bosschieter & Goudswaard, 1991) and stenopodids (Debelius, 1983), the partners are oriented perpendicularly to each other during copulation with the female usually uppermost. Nothing is known about the mating behaviour of polychelids, except that the shape of the spermatophore attached to the females of several species suggests a parallel mating position (own observations; Andrews, 1911).

(9) Reptantian spermatozoa bear characteristic nuclear arms not found in other decapods (for review see Jamieson, 1991; Felgenhauer & Abele, 1991). From a brief description by Andrews (1911), polychelid spermatozoa appear to be similar to those of other reptantians. We suggest that having spermatozoa

with three nuclear arms is the original condition in reptantian or at least eureptantian decapods, because this feature is found among achelates, homarids, astacids, thalassinids, anomalans and brachyurans (Koltzoff, 1906; Jamieson, 1991; Felgenhauer & Abele, 1991). Higher numbers seen in astacids, thalassinids and achelates (Jamieson, 1991) are apparently derived characters. One large acrosomal spike has been reported for dendrobranchiate and caridean sperms, whereas stenopodid sperms are devoid of spikes or arms (Burkenroad, 1981; Jamieson, 1991; Felgenhauer & Abele, 1991).

### Polychelida

This name is derived from the term Polychelidae introduced in 1874 by Wood-Mason. All extant polychelids inhabit the deep sea. Their morphology and shape is similar (De Man, 1916; Boas, 1939; Barnard, 1950; Bernard, 1953) and they share the following derived characters (B1–4).

(1) Basis, ischium and merus of the 2nd to 5th pereiopods are fused. Whereas the fusion of basis and ischium seems to have been evolved independently several times within carideans and reptantians (Burkenroad, 1981; present investigation), the addition of the merus to the basis and ischium is an apomorphic character of polychelids.

(2) The 4th pereiopod bears true chelae in addition to the first three pereiopods. This is not found in any other decapod group, but in some hermit crabs a subchelate 4th pereiopod has been independently evolved.

(3) A pair of knob-like structures connects the first pleon segment and the carapace (Fig. 6A). The knobs are situated in the pleural area of the 1st pleomere on either side of the animal and fit into a socket on the inner side of the posterior margin of the carapace. There is no corresponding structure in any other decapod group, but achelates have a similar but apparently convergent character on the last thoracic segment (Fig. 6B) (see below).

(4) Additional evidence for the monophyly of the Polychelida is given by the characteristic eryoneicus larva with a spiny and inflated carapace (Bernard, 1953).

### Eureptantia (new taxon)

The name Reptantia of Boas (1880) is combined with the Greek prefix  $\ell u$ -, meaning typical. This taxon is the sister-group of the Polychelida and comprises all other reptantian taxa. The Eureptantia is characterized by the following shared apomorphic characters (C1–6).

(1) The ischium of the 3rd maxilliped bears a comb-like row of strong teeth, the so-called crista dentata (Fig. 4). All 'natant' decapods and the polychelids (Fig. 4A) lack this character. We found the crista dentata in representatives of all eureptantian groups. Its absence in some achelates (e.g. *Scyllarus arctus*), thalassinids (e.g. *Callianassa australiensis*), anomalans and brachyurans (e.g. *Medorippe lanata*) must be considered as secondary, since most representatives of these taxa (even in the genus *Callianassa* (Lutze, 1938)) possess a crista dentata.

(2) The blunt-tipped dactylus of the 3rd maxilliped differs from those of the pereiopods (Fig. 21C). The plesiomorphic character found in all other decapod groups, including the polychelids, is a sharp-tipped dactylus which resembles the dactylus of the pereiopods.

(3) A distinct two-hinged articulation exists between propodus and carpus in the 1st pereiopod (cheliped). This second articulation is found not only in

296

![](_page_8_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 4. Ischium of the 3rd maxilliped of several reptantians. (SEM). (A) The plesiomorphic condition lacking a crista dentata (*Polycheles typhlops*). (B–D) Eureptantian representatives with an ischium of the 3rd maxilliped bearing the comb-like crista dentata. (B) Astacida, *Oreonectes limosus*. (C) Anomala, *Pagurus bernhardus*. (D) Brachyura, *Xantho poressa* (arrow points to teeth of the crista dentata).

animals with large chelae, but also in the Achelata (e.g. *Palinurellus gundlachi*) and other species with a reduced chela (e.g. *Thalassina anomala* (Fig. 13E), *Neoglyphea inopinata* Forest & Saint Laurent, 1975 (Forest & de Saint Laurent, 1981)). There is only one propodus/carpus hinge in the polychelids, carideans, stenopodids and dendrobranchiates. The anterior segments of the 1st pereiopod are mobile in many directions (see also Burkenroad, 1981).

(4) The chelae or subchelae of the 5th pereiopod bear characteristic scalelike teeth (Fig. 3). This character is restricted to and found in almost all eureptantian groups (see also Bauer, 1989). In achelates and homarids, the tip of the dactylus is expanded and similar to those of the 4th leg (Fig. 3C) (see also Forest & de Saint Laurent (1981) for *Neoglyphea inopinata*). The tip of the dactylus has been reduced convergently within thalassinids and anomalans (Fig. 3B, D). Whereas in thalassinids only one side of the dactylus bears the scalelike teeth (this is plesiomorphic, compare Fig. 3A, C), in anomalans both sides of the dactylus are equipped with teeth. In the axiids we found species with an elongated tip (*Axius stirynchus*) and with a reduced tip (*Axius gundlachi* (Fig. 3F)). These teeth have been lost in brachyurans with the loss of the grooming function of the 5th pereiopod.

(5) The telson is wide with a more or less square shape and posteriorly rounded (Fig. 5). The original decapod telson is triangular and pointed posteriorly like that of the dendrobranchiates, carideans, stenopodids, and polychelids (Fig. 5A). A triangular telson also occurs within the Brachyura. However, this is usually relatively wide, and some taxa with many plesiomorphic

![](_page_9_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 5. Tail fans of various reptantians. (A) The polychelid *Polycheles typhlops* with the plesiomorphic triangular telson (compare Fig. 1A). (B–D) The apomorphic rounded telson of the Eureptantia. (B) Homarida, *Nephrops norvegicus*. The telson bears a pair of post-lateral spines. (C) Achelata, *Ibacus peronii*. The posterior part of the tail fan is soft and uncalcified. (D) Anomala, *Munida rugosa*. Note the vertical and horizontal (cross-like) sutures on the telson. In (A, B, D) anterior is up, in (C) anterior is down.

characters possess a rounded (*Dromia personata*) or squared telson (*Homolodromia bouvieri*) (see also McLay, 1993). Thus, we conclude that the triangular telson in crabs is a secondary alteration perhaps related to the reduction of the pleon and the loss of the tail fan.

(6) An additional neuropil area, the accessory lobe, occurs in the deutocerebrum (Sandeman *et al.*, 1993). This characteristically structured neuropil has not been found in any other crustacean group.

Further evidence for eureptantian monophyly is provided by the thoracic endoskeleton. Polychelids resemble the 'natant' forms in this respect, whereas eureptantians are derived (Drach, 1950).

# Achelata (new taxon)

Achelata = bearing no chelae. From the Greek *hat chatla* = chela and the prefix alpha in the sense of a negation (alpha privativum).

We abandoned the synonyms Loricata (Boas, 1880) and Scyllaridea (Borradaile, 1907), because these sometimes include the glypheids and some fossil species of uncertain affinities (Ortmann, 1896). Furthermore, the name Loricata is well established for a higher taxon within the molluscs (Götting, 1985). We believe the name Achelata clearly characterizes the group because all members lack true chelae in the first four pereiopods.

The Achelata represents a well defined group of undoubtedly monophyletic

![](_page_10_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 6. The knob-like structures which connect body and carapace in Polychelida and Achelata. (SEM). (A) The first pleon segment of *Polycheles typhlops* (dorso-lateral view, anterior is left). The knob is part of 1st pleon segment and lies anterior to the lateral lobe. (B) The lateral part of the 8th thoracic segment of *Scyllarus arctus* (dorsal is left, anterior is down). The knob is part of the 8th thoracic segment and lies dorsal to the coxa of the 5th pereiopod (p5).

origin. It consists of the clearly monophyletic Scyllaridae (slipper lobsters) with many apomorphic characters and the Palinuridae (rock lobsters, spiny lobsters and hairy lobsters) of uncertain phylogenetic relationships (George & Main, 1967); they are probably paraphyletic. The position of the 'Synaxidae', in particular, seems insecure (Davie, 1990) (D1–6).

(1) The first antenna has relatively short and asymmetrical flagella and an elongated peduncle (Fig. 7). The flagella are twisted around each other. The aesthetasc sensilla on the thick outer flagellum are concentrated mainly on one side in a brush-like manner. This type of first antenna can be found in most achelate species. Only in the genus *Panulirus* do first antennae occur which bear long symmetrical flagella (Holthuis, 1991), which superficially resemble the plesiomorphic condition in 'natant decapods', and in polychelids, homarids, astacids, and thalassinids (see Fig. 15A). However, in contrast to the original decapod pattern, the aesthetascs are still concentrated in a brush-like arrangement on the tip of the thick branch (Laverack & Ardill, 1965). Thus we consider the first antenna of *Panulirus* as derived from the original achelate pattern.

(2) The first articles of the left and right second antennae are fused with each other medially and with the epistome, and laterally with the carapace

299

![](_page_11_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 7. The flagella of the first antenna of the achelate *Styllarus arctus*. (SEM). The two flagella are twisted around each other. The thicker outer flagellum bears a brush of aesthetascs on one side and a few setae on the other side. Compare Fig. 15.

(Fig. 8). This feature is combined with the posterior location of the pores of the antennal glands. This complex character was seen in all scyllarid and palinurid species under investigation. It is also reported from several other species and there seem to be no exceptions (e.g. Snodgrass, 1951; Davie, 1990; Holthuis, 1991). In the plesiomorphic condition found in most other decapods, the coxae of the second antennae are separated and there is no fusion of the epistome with the carapace margin. The fusion of epistome and carapace in the Brachyura exhibits a different pattern (see below).

(3) All pereiopods lack chelae except for the small grooming chela of the fifth pereiopod in females. Only the males of the genus *Justitia* have enlarged subchelate first pereiopods (Gordon, 1960; Holthuis, 1991). Since this phenomenon is restricted to this genus, it seems likely to represent an apomorphy within the palinurids. Because dendrobranchiates, stenopodids and some reptantians possess three pairs of chelae (pereiopods 1 to 3), we propose this to be the plesiomorphic condition. The loss of chelae in other reptantian taxa (e.g. *Neoglyphea* (Forest & de Saint Laurent, 1981), Thalassinida, Meiura) is apparently convergent with the achelate condition of scyllarids and palinurids.

(4) A knob-like structure, positioned above the coxa of the fifth pereiopod, connects the eighth thoracic segment with the posterior margin of the carapace (Fig. 6B). A similar knob occurs only in the polychelids (Fig. 6A), where it is part of the first pleon segment (see above) and therefore considered to be convergent. We regard the lack of this knob to be plesiomorphic.

(5) The distal portion of the tail fan is soft and uncalcified (Fig. 5C). We found this in all species examined, and corresponding conditions are reported for many members of this group (see Holthuis, 1991). A similar character is to be seen in parastacid crayfishes. This is clearly convergent because the parastacids belong to the monophyletic Astacida (see below; Scholtz, 1995). In all other decapods the whole tail fan is hard and calcified. This character is plesiomorphic.

(6) For many palinurids and scyllarids a characteristic larva, the phyllosoma larva, has been reported (e.g. Gurney, 1942; Sims, 1966; Lesser, 1974). This

![](_page_12_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 8. Anterior region of the achelate *Palinurellus gundlachi* (ventral aspect). The basal articles of the 2nd antennae are medially fused and surround the 1st articles of the 1st antennae. The nephropores (arrow) are located posteriorly. The epistome is fused to the basal antennal articles. The 1st and 2nd pereiopods bear no chelae. Note the straight flagella of the exopods of the maxillipeds (arrowheads) (compare with Fig. 16).

type of larva is mainly characterized by a flattened and leaf-like carapace and does not occur outside the achelates.

# Macrochelata (new taxon)

Macrochelata = bearing large chelae. The name comes from the Greek words makros = large and hae chaela = chela. The Macrochelata is the sister-group of the Achelata and contains all the remaining taxa. Its apomorphies are as follows (E1-5).

(1) The molar process of the mandible has a trapezoid shape, is relatively strong and lies opposite the palp (Fig. 9). Achelates and polychelids have a smaller molar process with a different shape (Fig. 9B) (see also Boas, 1939). The molar process of *Stenopus hispidus* and of other stenopodids (e.g. Bruce & Baba, 1973; Manning & Chace, 1990) is also weaker. On the other hand *Penaeus* possesses a very large molar process, but of different round shape (Fig. 9A). Examined carideans were highly variable in this respect (see also Felgenhauer & Abele, 1989). Against this background we conclude that Reptantia originally possessed a relatively weak molar process, which has been retained by polychelids and achelates.

(2) The 1st pereiopod and its chelae are hypertrophied in size compared with the subsequent pereiopods. The 1st pereiopods of most Achelata are not much larger than the others (see above) and the 1st pereiopods of polychelids are barely longer than pereiopods two to five. In dendrobranchiates all pereiopods are more or less the same size. The 3rd pereiopods in stenopodids are enlarged and the condition is highly variable in carideans (e.g. a convergent enlargement of the chelae of the 1st pereiopods occurs in alpheids). We suggest that a very large 1st pereiopod is a derived character.

![](_page_13_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 9. Mandibles of various decapods. (SEM). (A) Dendrobranchiata, *Penaeus sp.* Note the large molar process and the leaf-like mandibular palp. (B–F) Reptant mandibles. All possess the curved palp which is apomorphic for the Pleocyemata (it has been removed in D). The anterior articulation is formed by an elongated process (arrows). (C–F) The mandibles of the Macrochelata. (B) Polychelda, *Polycheles typhlops.* (C) Brachyura, *Pilumnus hirtellus.* (D) Homarida, *Nephrops norvegicus.* (E) Thalassinida, *Upogebia pulsilla.* In contrast to the situation in *Upogebia*, the process of the anterior articulation is somewhat reduced. It was longer in the examined galatheoids.

(3) The eureptantian type of grooming appendage (5th pereiopod) occurs in both sexes (with the exception of the enoplometopodids (see above)). The plesiomorphic condition, with only females bearing chelate 5th pereiopods, is found in Polychelida and Achelata.

(4) The mid-lateral pleonic hinges are flat, loose joints with a relatively high mobility (Fig. 13D, E). Originally, the hinge points are exposed and strong with a well defined articulation and plane of movement, as seen in polychelids and achelates (Fig. 2C).

(5) The proto-, deuto- and tritocerebrum lie in one plane; in other decapods,

and in other malacostracans, the brain is folded with the protocerebrum in an elevated position (Helm, 1928; Sandeman *et al.*, 1993).

### Homarida

This name is derived from the family name Homaridae introduced in 1888 by Bate. In addition to the Nephropoidea (see Holthuis, 1974, 1991), the true lobsters, this taxon probably contains the Enoplometopodidae (see also de Saint Laurent, 1988). We found only a few and weak apomorphies, which could not be seen in all examined representatives and which are mostly restricted to the Nephropoidea, so the monophyly of the Homarida cannot be very well established (F1–5).

(1) The cervical groove and the hepatic (antennal) groove of the lateral carapace form a characteristic 'W'. We found this groove pattern in *Homarus, Nephrops, Nephropsis* and *Thaumastocheles* (for other homarid genera see Holthuis, 1974, 1991). The carapace of *Enoplometopus* does not bear significant grooves. The carapace grooves of the other reptantians show another arrangement and lack the 'W' (see also Boas, 1880).

(2) The telson bears a pair of strong postlateral spines (Fig. 5B). This character is shared by all examined species, except *Thaumastocheles zaleucus*, and is restricted to homarids (see Holthuis, 1991). However, telson-spines can also be found in other reptant taxa such as astacids and achelates (Fig. 5C). These spines are located more anteriorly (i.e. about half-way down the telson) and are somewhat smaller than those in homarids.

(3) The telson of the first larval stages forms a crescent with a large median and a pair of lateral spines. This is so in *Homarus americanus* (Helluy & Beltz, 1991), *Nephrops norvegicus* (Jorgensen, 1925) and *Metanephrops challengeri* (Balss, 1914) (Wear, 1976). Large median spines are present in other decapod larvae (e.g. some thalassinids (axiids) (Gurney, 1942; Thiriot, 1974)), but the combination of large median spines and crescent-shaped telson can only be seen in Homarida. Little is known about the larvae of enoplometopodids. The affinities of the 'enoplometopodid' larva described by Gurney (1938) are uncertain. Nothing is known about the larvae of thaumastochelids.

(4) Juveniles hatch with all pereiopods but no pleopods or uropods (late zoea or mysis stage). This is so in species of *Nephrops* and *Homarus* (Jorgensen, 1925; Gurney, 1942; Helluy & Beltz, 1991). A more advanced hatchling stage with pleopods has been reported for *Metanephrops* (Wear, 1976). It is not clear whether this is a derived feature within the homarids, and no data exist for most other homarid genera. Larvae of dendrobranchiates hatch as nauplii (e.g. Kishinouye, 1900; Gurney, 1942); this is plesiomorphic. Pleocyemates usually hatch at an earlier zoea stage than homarids (Gurney, 1942; Rabalais & Gore, 1985). The early hatchling stage therefore represents the original character within pleocyemates.

(5) The acrosome of the spermatozoa is elongated. This is true for the Nephropoidea but again not for *Enoplometopus*, which shows the plesiomorphic spherical acrosome (Jamieson, 1991).

### Fractosternalia (new taxon)

The name Fractosternalia is the combination of the Latin frangere = to break and the Greek *ho* sternon = breastbone. It indicates that members of this group

![](_page_15_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 10. Thoracic sternum of the Fractosternalia represented by the crayfish *Cherax destructor* (A) and the anomalan *Galathea squamifera* (B). The animal's ventral side is shown, anterior is up. Arrowheads point to the movable last thoracic sternites (see also Fig. 13). Note the reduced 5th pereiopods in the anomalan *Galathea* (B) (arrow).

have a divided sternum. The Fractosternalia is the sister-group of the Homarida (if homarids are monophyletic) and includes the Astacida, the Thalassinida and the Meiura. The detailed descriptions given by Forest & de Saint Laurent (1981, 1989) lead us to suggest that *Neoglyphea inopinata* also belongs to the Fractosternalia. Although the exact phylogenetic position of *Neoglyphea* is unclear, we assume it to have branched off early in the fractosternalian lineage since, as in astacids (but in contrast to all other fractosternalian groups), the basis and ischium of the 2nd to 5th pereiopods are not fused.

The taxa named below share some characteristic features not present in any other decapod group. These characters are suggested to be apomorphies that unite the monophyletic Fractosternalia (G1-2).

(1) The last thoracic sternite (8th) is movable anteroposteriorly and laterally and is separated from the next anterior sternite (Figs 10, 13), in contrast to homarids, achelates, polychelids, and stenopodids, where all thoracic sternites (or at least the last two) are fused or show restricted mobility. The fused sternum (at least the fusion of the last two sternites, 7 and 8) represents a plesiomorphic character, because we observed a fusion of posterior sternites in the dendrobranchiates *Penaeus* and *Ericyonia* (see also Andrews, 1911) and the caridean shrimp *Crangon*. Some alterations of the apomorphic sternal pattern occur within the Fractosternalia. Most species within the paguroids have additionally unfused the sternite of the fourth pereiopod. In brachyurans the last thoracic sternite is fused to the other sternites (Fig. 21E). That this has to be regarded as a secondary feature evolved in the ancestral lineage of Brachyura can be seen from the incomplete lateral fusion in some 'dromiacean' species (e.g. *Homola barbata*, Fig. 21E) (see also Ihle, 1913).

(2) The thoraco-pleonic articulation (the secula of Pilgrim & Wiersma, 1963)

is complex (Fig. 11). This articulation in polychelids, achelates (see also Pilgrim & Wiersma, 1963) and homarids consists of two weakly calcified elements (uncus and solea (Pilgrim & Wiersma, 1963)) in the pleural region of the last thoracic segment (Fig. 11C). We found a similar condition or no recognizable sclerites at all in the 'natant' decapods (see also Coutière (1899), cited by Chace & Kensley (1992)). In the Fractosternalia a third sclerotized element occurs, the manubrium (Pilgrim & Wiersma, 1963) (Fig. 11A, B). All parts of the secula are more strongly calcified than in the other decapods. We found this type of secula in Astacida, Thalassinida and Anomala. Thereby the solea is not as distinct in paguroids as in other fractosternalians (Pilgrim, 1973). A secula cannot be recognized in Brachyura because the pleon is reduced and ventrally folded. This is clearly a derived character.

### Astacida

We derived this term from the classical Astacidae (Latreille, 1803). This taxon includes all freshwater crayfishes, the Astacoidea and the Parastacoidea. The systematics of the crayfishes has been studied extensively (e.g. Riek, 1972; Hobbs, 1974; Albrecht, 1980), but the monophyly of astacids has been disputed (Albrecht, 1980). Astacid monophyly is based on the following apomorphies (H1-3).

(1) The 5th pereiopods bear a comb-like dactylus in both sexes instead of the eureptantian grooming chelae (Fig. 3E, F). We found this in *Orconectes limosus, Astacus leptodactylus* and *Cherax destructor* and suggest that it is part of the astacid ground pattern. A convergent character occurs in the thalassinid genus *Naushonia* (Berggren, 1992) and in the caridean atyid shrimps (Bauer, 1989).

(2) The embryonic growth zone consists of about 40 ectoteloblasts (Fig. 12B) arranged in a complete circle. This has been confirmed for several astacoids and parastacoids (Scholtz, 1992, 1993). The plesiomorphic condition, reported for all other decapod and most malacostracan groups (Dohle, 1972; Scholtz, 1984, 1993), is a ring of 19 ectoteloblasts (Fig. 12A).

(3) Astacida undergo direct development, with hatchlings which possess all appendages except uropods and first pleopods. The general appearance of the hatchlings is adult-like without zoeal traits such as exopods bearing pereiopods or a larval telson (Zehnder, 1934; Sandeman & Sandeman, 1991). In other decapods with direct development, at least some larval characters such as setose exopods and a larval telson are maintained (Gurney, 1942; Rabalais & Gore, 1985).

In addition, all freshwater crayfishes have in common an ischium of the first pereiopod of a more or less squared shape with a straight anterior margin (Fig. 14B). Originally, the anterior margin was oblique and the ischium trapezoidal (Fig. 14A). The plesiomorphic ischium shape is found in all reptantian groups except for the thalassinids (Fig. 14C) and some brachyurans.

### Thalassinida

We adopt the name Thalassinida from Burkenroad (1981). This group is relatively uniform in habits and morphology. All thalassinids are burrowers (e.g. Lutze, 1938; Atkinson & Taylor, 1988; Griffis & Suchanek, 1991). Relationships within the group are not finally settled (Borradaile, 1903; de Saint Laurent, 1973, 1979a; Poore, 1992) and even their monophyly has been doubted by

![](_page_17_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 11. The thoraco-pleonic articulation (secula). The tissues were treated with KOH, anterior is left, dorsal is up. The secula was first detected by Huxley (1884). For the description of its function see Pilgrim & Wiersma (1963), Rayner (1965) and Pilgrim (1973). In the crayfish Astacus leptodacty/us (A) three distinct sclerotized parts can be recognized, the manubrium (ma), the uncus (un) and the solea (so). The situation in the thalassinid Callianassa australiansis is similar except that the solea is less distinct (B). The plesiomorphic feature is represented in the homarid lobster Nephrops norvegicus (C). Here, the manubrium is missing and the T-shaped uncus and the solea are less calcified than in the crayfish. p5 5th pereiopod (coxa), p11 1st pleomere, pb attachment point of the pleurobranchia.

![](_page_18_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 12. Teloblasts in decapod embryos. Transverse section through the growth zone of an early embryo of *Homarus americanus* (A) and *Cherax destructor* (B). (A) Displays the plesiomorphic character of a ring of 19 ectoteloblasts (ET) (nine paired (ET1–ET9) and one median ectoteloblast (ET0)). (B) The apomorphic number of about 40 ectoteloblasts of the freshwater crayfishes. Eight mesoteloblasts occur in all cases (four paired mesoteloblasts (MT1–MT4)). pr proctodaeum.

some authors (Gurney, 1942; de Saint Laurent, 1973). We regard the Thalassinida as monophyletic, because of the following derived characters (I1–5).

(1) The cheliped (1st pereiopod) is flattened and the joint between propodus and carpus is oriented in such a way that the plane of movement is at right angles to that of the dactylus (Fig. 13E). The dactylus originates in an upper position. These characters are also recognizable in taxa with a subchelate cheliped (*Upogebia, Thalassina, Naushonia* (Berggren, 1992)). The merus is vertically oriented and adapted to move closely along the side of the carapace (Fig. 13E). Similar chelipeds occur in most thalassinids (e.g. Sakai, 1962; de Saint Laurent, 1972; Gore, 1987; Manning & Chace, 1990). The ancestral character state can be seen in homarids, astacids, and galatheoids. In all these the angle of the propodus-carpus joint is inclined towards the axis of symmetry of the animals and the dactylus has an internal position.

(2) The sternite of the 7th thoracic segment is relatively large and characteristically shaped (Fig. 13A, B). It bears a transverse anterior edge, the

![](_page_19_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 13. Thalassinidan characters. In (A) (*Thalassina anomala*) and (B) (*Calocaris macandrae*) the characteristically shaped and enlarged sternite of the 7th thoracic segment is shown (arrow) (ventral aspect, anterior is up). Note the movable last (8th) sternite (see Fig. 10). (C) Dorsal view of

joints of the 4th pereiopods are located anteriorly, and the posterior portion of the sternite forms two crescents. We found corresponding conditions, in all species examined independent of sex (for laomediids see also Sakai, 1962). A plesiomorphic 7th thoracic sternite (e.g. in crayfish) is shown for comparison in Figure 10A. It has neither the characteristic size nor the shape of the 7th thoracic sternite of the thalassinids and the coxae are hinged more posteriorly.

(3) The carapace has a pair of lateral protrusions and a median dorsal protrusion along its posterior margin resulting in a characteristic lateral notch on either side ('cardiac notch': see Chace & Kensley, 1992) (Fig. 13C, D, E). The lateral protrusions connect the carapace and the first pleomer. We found this character complex in *Axius, Calocaris* and *Thalassina*. It is also reported for other axiids, laomediids (Sakai, 1962) and *Callianidea vandoverae* (Gore, 1987). The cardiac notch does not occur in *Callianassa, Jaxea* or *Upogebia*. However, from its distribution within the thalassinids we conclude that this seems to represent a secondary loss. For descriptions of similar but apparently convergent structures in other decapods (alpheid shrimps) see Chace & Kensley (1992).

(4) All Thalassinida share a narrow waist in the region of the first pleomer (Fig. 13C, E). A characteristic feature of the first pleomer is that the lateral lobes connecting the pleon to the carapace are elevated in comparison with the lateral hinges of the pleura of the pleon (Fig. 13D, E). Originally the connection between carapace and pleon lay in the same plane as the mid-lateral hinges of the pleon segments (Fig. 2A).

(5) Further evidence of monophyly is provided by the habit of thalassinids of constructing complex vertical burrows (Atkinson & Taylor, 1988; Griffis & Suchanek, 1991).

### Meiura (new taxon)

Meiura = reduced tail. This name is from the Greek Meioo = I reduce and *hae oura* = tail. A name for similar groupings is Heterura, but this either excludes the paguroids (Beurlen & Glaessner, 1930) or includes the thalassinids (Hennig, 1986). The Meiura is the sister-group of the Thalassinida (or of both Thalassinida and Astacida—see below) and comprises the monophyletic taxa Anomala and Brachyura. The sister-group relationship between these two is well established by the following synapomorphies (J1–4).

(1) The 1st antennae bear short asymmetrical flagella (a thick outer flagellum and a thin and shorter inner flagellum) with the aesthetasc hairs concentrated on one side of the thick branch (Fig. 15). The 1st article is relatively wide and large and the peduncle is bent twice (Fig. 21). This type of 1st antenna is very similar throughout the Anomala and Brachyura. Exceptions are found in filter-feeding hippoids and the terrestrial hermit crabs and are clearly related to the habits of these animals. The plesiomorphic 1st antennae of reptants possess a short and straight peduncle without a significantly enlarged first article

posterior thoracic and anterior pleonic regions of *Thalassina*. The 1st pleomer is narrow and the posterior carapace margin exhibits the characteristic dorso-lateral notches. (D) Lateral view of the thoracic-pleonic connection of *Calotaris* (anterior is right). Note the elevated overlapping lobe of the 1st pleon segment (see Fig. 2) and the notch in the posterior carapace margin (compare with C and E). Note also the reduced midlateral hinges between the pleon segments (compare with Fig. 2). (E) *Thalassina anomala*, showing the orientation of the 1st pereiopod (cheliped) (compare Fig 14A for the plesiomorphic condition).

![](_page_21_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 14. The anterior margin of the ischium of the 1st pereiopod. (A) The plesiomorphic character of an oblique anterior margin of the ischium in *Nephrops norvegicus* (anterior is right). The derived feature occurs in the thalassinid *Upogebia pulsilla* (B) (anterior is left) and the crayfish *Orconectes limosus* (C) (anterior is right), where the anterior margin of the ischium is vertical.

and long flagella with only slight asymmetry. The aesthetascs are not concentrated in a brush-like manner (Fig. 15A). The 1st antenna of the Meiura superficially resembles that of the Achelata to a certain extent (see Fig. 7), but this seems to be convergent.

(2) The exopods of all three maxillipeds are bent twice to result in a Z-shape (Fig. 16). Originally they are more or less straight, as in crayfishes or lobsters (Fig. 8). A similar character is present in some thalassinids (e.g. *Thalassina anomala* and *Laomedia* (Sakai, 1962)) and crangonids (see also Christoffersen, 1988b). This must be convergent since thalassinids are monophyletic and the crangonids are carideans and only distantly related.

(3) Only the 1st pereiopods have chelae. This is correlated with feeding behaviour. Whereas astacids pick up most of their food with the chelate second pereiopods, anomalans and brachyurans use their large chelipeds. The entire character complex occurs in all anomalans and brachyurans. A convergent loss of the chelae of the 2nd and 3rd pereiopods has occurred within thalassinids (e.g. *Upogebia, Laomedia* (Sakai, 1962)). In this case reduction of chelae might be related to the burrowing life style and filter and deposit feeding.

![](_page_22_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 15. The 1st antenna of the astacid *Oreonectes limosus* (A) and of two representatives of the Meiura, showing the apomorphic characters, the anomalan *Galathea squamifera* (B) and the brachyuran *Medorippe lanata* (C). (see also Fig. 21.)

(4) The ganglion of the 1st pleomere is fused with the last thoracic ganglion (Fig. 17). This is so in several anomalans and seems to be a general character of the group (e.g. Pike, 1947; Sayed, 1963). Most brachyurans, on the other hand, have all ganglia of the pleon fused with the thoracic ganglion mass (e.g. Bouvier, 1889; Balss, 1941). The original condition for Brachyura can be seen in dromiids. Here the ganglia of the pleon are still separated but the first ganglion is fused with the thoracic mass (Bouvier, 1897, cited after Balss, 1941) (Fig. 17C). In thalassinids, as in other decapods, the first pleonic ganglion is not fused with that of the last thoracic segment (Fig. 17A). A more anterior position of the first pleonic ganglion has also been reported for the thalassinid *Upogebia* (Bouvier, 1889; Schram, 1986), but no fusion with the last thoracic ganglion occurs.

![](_page_22_Picture_4.jpeg)

Figure 16. The Z-shaped flagella of the maxillipeds of the brachyuran crab Xantho poressa (ventral aspect, anterior is up). (SEM). See Fig. 8 for the plesiomorphic condition.

![](_page_23_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 17. The central nervous system of certain reptantians (redrawn after Bouvier, 1889; Balss, 1941) (anterior is up). (A) Plesiomorphic condition: the 1st pleonic ganglion is situated within the corresponding 1st pleon segment (*Axius stirynchus*). (B, C) Apomorphic condition of the Meiura: the 1st pleonic ganglion is fused to the last thoracic ganglion. (B) *Galathea strigosa* (Anomala). (C) *Dromia personata* (Brachyura). The position of the 1st pleonic ganglion is indicated by an arrow. th4-th8 ganglia of the pereion, pl1-pl6 pleonic ganglia.

### Anomala

This is the Anomala of Boas (1880). We do not use Anomura in the sense of Borradaile (1907) because it includes the thalassinids. We prefer the term Anomala, despite the suggestions of McLaughlin & Holthuis (1985), because it does not obscure the well established sister-group relationship between the Anomala and Brachyura.

The Anomala is a very heterogenous group in habits and morphology. Analyses of anomalan phylogenetic relationships have been undertaken by McLaughlin (1983) and Martin & Abele (1986) but led to some contradictory results. We discern two higher monophyletic taxa within the Anomala. One group comprises galatheoids and hippoids. They share the apomorphic character of a telson stretch receptor, which is not found in any other malacostracan group (Paul, 1989). The other group is represented by *Lomis* and the hermit crabs including coenobitids and lithodids, which share some apomorphic characters (Richter & Scholtz, 1994). The Anomala as a whole can be united by the following apomorphies (K1–7).

(1) The carapace has a weakly calcified lateral line (linea anomalica = anomurica) that ends in a soft field at the posterior carapace margin (Fig. 18). This character was found in all investigated species but the size of the soft field varies in extent; in galatheoids it is small, whereas in hippoids and hermit crabs it extends over a large area of the carapace. Lineae are also found in some thalassinids and brachyurans, but these never end in a wide uncalcified field at the posterior carapace margin and homology seems unlikely (see below).

(2) The basis of the 2nd antenna is located laterally in a triangular notch in the anterior margin of the carapace (Fig. 18). This was found in all representatives of the Anomala and is restricted to them.

(3) The coxa-sternite joints of the thoracopods are inverted when compared with those of other reptantians (Figs 10, 19), with the result that the sternites form a protrusion that fits into a cavity in the coxae. The reverse represents the original condition. The inversion of this joint occurs in most anomalan species but is not as evident in some hermit crabs and in the posterior pereiopods of several galatheoids.

(4) The 5th pereiopod is reduced in size and kept in the branchial chamber as a cleaner leg (Fig. 10B). This is so in all anomalan members except shelldwelling hermit crabs, which use the 5th pereiopod to hold onto their shell. Interestingly, secondarily free-living hermit crabs such as *Birgus latro* and lithodids possess a cleaner leg (Richter & Scholtz, 1994).

(5) The telson bears a vertical and a horizontal suture which together form a cross (Fig. 5D). We found this cross in galatheoids and some symmetrical hermit crabs. The distribution of this type of telson within the Anomala suggests an apomorphic state.

(6) The 5th pereiopod in the late zoea stages is reduced in size, slender, and inserted medially between the coxae of the third and fourth pereiopods (Fig. 20). This character is reported for larvae of all anomalan taxa (e.g. Gurney, 1942; Dechancé, 1961; Knight, 1966, 1970). In the larvae of all other reptants, the pereiopods lie in a row and the 5th pereiopod is not significantly smaller than the rest (Gurney, 1942).

(7) Further evidence for anomalan monophyly is provided by the stalked structure of the spermatophores (e.g. Subramoniam, 1984; Hinsch, 1991; Tudge, 1991).

### Brachyura

We use this name following Borradaile (1907), who includes the 'Dromiacea'. The monophyletic Brachyura is the sister-group of the Anomala and includes forms with many plesiomorphic characters assembled as the apparently paraphyletic 'Dromiacea' (see below). Brachyuran systematics is still under debate (e.g. Guinot, 1978, 1979; de Saint Laurent, 1980a, b). Brachyuran apomorphies are as follows (L1–7).

(1) The anterior carapace forms a fossa orbito-antennularis, which surrounds

![](_page_25_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 18. Lateral view of the carapace of *Galathea intermedia* (Anomala) (SEM, anterior is right, dorsal is up). The 'linea anomalica' and the characteristic location of the 2nd antenna basal article in a notch in the carapace are shown.

Figure 19. The anterior thoracic sternites of *Lomis hirta*, (Anomala) showing the inverted articulation between sternites and coxae (compare Fig. 10B). The original type of articulation is shown in Fig. 13A.

Figure 20. The pereiopods of various zoea larvae (anterior is left). The apomorphic character of an anterio-medial position of the larval 5th pereiopod in Anomalans is depicted in (A–C). (A) The hippoid *Lepidopa myops* (redrawn after Knight, 1970). (B) The galatheoid *Porcellana sp.* (Nomarski optics). (C) The brachyuran *Petalomera wilsoni*, showing the plesiomorphic arrangement of the 5th zoeal pereiopod (redrawn after Wear, 1970). (D) The hermit crab *Catapaguroides timidus* (redrawn after Dechancé, 1961). Arrows point to the 5th pereiopods.

the eyestalks and the 1st antenna (Fig. 21B). We found this character in all brachyurans examined. We agree with Ihle (1913) and Báez & Martin (1989), who describe a corresponding character in homolodromiids. Within the brachyurans the fossa becomes divided and the orbits separated by fusion of the 2nd segment of the 2nd antenna with the dorsal margin of the anterior carapace (Fig. 21B). This happened several times convergently (Balss, 1940).

![](_page_26_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 21. Some brachyuran apomorphies. (A) Head and mouth region of *Homola barbata* (ventral). The characteristic fusion of epistome and carapace can be seen (see text) (compare B). Note the bent peduncle, large basal article of the 1st antenna and long eye stalks. (B) Anterior region of *Xantho poressa* (SEM). The fossa orbito-antennularis is divided by the fusion of the 2nd article of the 2nd antenna and the dorsal carapace. The characteristic fissure or notch between carapace and epistome is indicated by an arrow in (A) and (B). The flattened 3rd maxiliped in *Homola* (C) and *Xantho* (SEM) (D). Endopod and exopod (arrows) lie in one plane. Note the expanded outer margin of the merus (arrowheads) and the inner position of the three distal segments, the short carpus, propodus and dactylus. (E) The thoracic sternum of *Homola barbata*. All sternites of the pereion and of the 3rd maxilliped are fused and lie in one plane. Note that the 8th thoracic sternite is fused but the fusion plane is deeply cleft (arrow).

The orbito-antennular fossa of the homolids is shallow, correlated with their long, slender eyestalks (Fig. 21A). This is considered to be a secondary alteration. Outside the Brachyura, orbits occur in the achelate scyllarids. These are clearly convergent, because they are differently formed and palinurids do not possess orbits (plesiomorphic condition).

(2) The epistome bears a transverse ridge which is fused laterally with the bent margin of the carapace to form a characteristic notch (Fig. 21A, B). We found this character in all species examined, including *Homolodromia bouvieri*, *Homola barbata* and *Dromia personata* (see also Snodgrass, 1951). According to Milne Edwards & Bouvier (1902), Doflein (1904) and Ihle (1913), a corresponding character occurs also in other representatives of the homolodromiids. The fusion

of the epistome and the carapace in the Achelata (see above) (Fig. 8) shows a different arrangement and we therefore suggest convergent evolution. Transverse ridges are also found on the epistomes of *Nephropsis* and some galatheoid species. These are never combined with a fusion of the carapace with the epistome.

(3) The distal segments (dactylus, propodus, carpus) of the 3rd maxilliped are bent posteriorly and oriented medially (Fig. 21C, D). The carpus is relatively short. The proximal segments (basis, ischium, merus) have expanded margins, are flattened and form one broad plane, with the exopod lying beside the ischium (Fig. 21C, D). The proximal segments are flattened and broadened to different extents within the brachyurans. The third maxilliped of homolids and homolodromiids is still by and large leg-like (Fig. 21C), but is very flat in dromiids and the other crabs and forms a so-called operculum that covers the mouth (Fig. 21D). Flattened 3rd maxillipeds also occur in some thalassinids (*Callianassa*), scyllarids, and hippoids, but all these examples bear only a superficial similarity to the flattening found in brachyurans (e.g. the operculiform appearance of the 3rd maxillipeds in *Callianassa* is due to an expansion of the *inner* margins of ischium and merus) and are therefore suggested as being convergent.

(4) The chelae of the 1st pereiopod are oriented so that the inner side of the palm faces the anterior side of the carapace. This results in the external location of the movable finger (dactylus) of the chelae. This phenomenon can also be recognized in homolids and homolodromiids (e.g. Doflein, 1904; Ihle, 1913; Báez & Martin, 1989). The plesiomorphic condition can be seen in homarids, astacids and galatheoids, where the upper edge of the chelae and dactyli are oriented towards the anterior side of the carapace.

(5) All thoracic sternites are fused and form a wide sternum with a median groove (Fig. 21E). This fused brachyuran sternum is apparently derived from the divided sternum of the Fractosternalia, indicated by the incomplete fusion of the lateral parts of the last sternites in homolids and homolodromiids (Fig. 21E) (see also Ihle, 1913). The coxae of the 1st pereiopods of homolodromiids lie close together, whereas those of the other crabs are separated and the sternite of the 3rd maxilliped lies in the same plane as those of the pereiopods.

(6) The pleon is flattened and ventrally flexed and the uropods reduced to small intercalary plates. These vestigial uropods are convergently lost in several lines within the Brachyura (e.g. McLay, 1993). The reduced pleon in anomalan crabs is apparently convergent.

(7) The sexes differ strongly in pleon size, being smaller and narrower in males than in females. This is also true for homolodromiids (see table 1, pp. 496/7 in Báez & Martin 1989)). Sexual dimorphism of the pleon can also be seen in crayfishes, *Lomis hirta*, and the Lithodidae. This, however, does not show the degree found in brachyurans.

Evidence for brachyuran monophyly also comes from comparative studies of the thoracic endoskeleton and musculature patterns (Abrahamczik-Scanzoni, 1942).

# CONCLUSIONS

# 'Palinura' is not a monophyletic taxon

Boas (1880, 1939) and Borradaile (1907) suggested a close relationship between polychelids and achelates, and Borradaile (1907) erected the taxon 'Palinura' to

indicate the common origin of these groups. He based this conclusion mainly on characters like the reduction of the inner lobes of the 2nd maxillae and 1st maxillipeds. This view and the term 'Palinura' have been adopted by most carcinologists (e.g. Balss, 1957; McLaughlin, 1980; Bowman & Abele, 1982; Schram, 1986). Burkenroad (1981) has questioned the monophyly of the 'Palinura', stressing a number of differences between polychelids and achelates. On the other hand, he mentioned the possession of a button fastening the carapace to the last thoracic segment and he considered this character as a possible synapomorphy indicating a sister-group relationship of polychelids and achelates.

The present investigation shows that the 'Palinura' represent a paraphyletic assemblage and therefore the name should be abandoned in phylogenetic systematics. In our analysis the Polychelida is the sister group of all other reptantians, which we call Eureptantia. The remaining groups of the 'Palinura', the scyllarids and palinurids, form the monophyletic taxon Achelata. The Achelata is part of the Eureptantia, because it shares a number of derived characters with the other members of this group. The knobs of polychelids and achelates originate from different segments and presumably evolved independently. If the polychelids were the sister group of the achelates, either all eureptantian features of the latter would be convergent, or the polychelids would have lost all eureptantian apomorphies. The reduction of the inner lobes of the 2nd maxillae and 1st maxillipeds by convergent evolution is the more parsimonious explanation which is supported by the different degrees of their reduction (see Boas (1939), Fig. 4, p. 11).

# 'Astacura' and the unresolved relationships of the Astacida

The Astacura (Borradaile, 1907) (=Homaridea, Astacidea), including Homarida and Astacida, has always been considered to be a monophyletic taxon. Only the thaumastochelids and enoplometopodids are placed with the thalassinids by some carcinologists (Ortmann, 1896; Gurney, 1938), and Kaestner (1970) included the thalassinids in the Astacura. Our own phylogenetic analysis reveals that 'Astacura' represents a paraphyletic assemblage. Homarids and astacids share the same general appearance, but this is based on plesiomorphic characters and we found no synapomorphy which could unite these taxa, whereas the Astacida share apomorphic characters with the other Fractosternalia, namely the movable last thoracic sternite and the pattern of calcified pleural parts connecting thorax and pleon. We suggest the term 'Astacura' and its synonyms be abandoned.

Although we found only a few apomorphies for them, we regard the Homarida as monophyletic. Additional studies are needed for a broader base of comparison. It seems likely that thaumastochelids belong to the Homarida because they share the apomorphic carapace groove arrangement with other homarids and lack all fractosternalian or thalassinid apomorphies. We agree with de Saint Laurent (1988) that enoplometopodids do not belong to the thalassinids, because they lack the apomorphic characters of the Fractosternalia and the Thalassinida such as the movable last thoracic sternite or the narrow first pleomer. The possession of the post-lateral telson spines suggests a homarid relationship for enoplometopodids. On the other hand, the lack of most homarid

# G. SCHOLTZ AND S. RICHTER

TABLE 1. List of apomorphic and corresponding plesiomorphic characters of the reptantian monophyla. Numbers refer to text and Fig. 1. a1, a2 1st and 2nd antennae, mxp maxilliped, p1-p5 pereiopods.

	Apomorphic	Plesiomorphic
A1	dorsoventrally flattened pleon	laterally compressed pleon
A2	strong exoskeleton	weakly calcified exoskeleton
A3	long anterior mandible articulation	short mandible articulation
A4	sternite-coxa articulation with anterior-posterior	medio-lateral leg movement
A5	n5 with grooming chela	p5 without chela
A6	1st pleomere with overlapping lobes	no overlapping lobes
A7	brain wider than long	brain longer than wide
A8	parallel mating position	perpendicular mating position
A9	spermatozoa with three nuclear arms	spermatozoa without nuclear arms
B1	basis, ischium, mersus fused in p2 to p5	all three unfused
B2	p4 chelate	p4 not chelate
B3	knob between 1st pleomere and carapace	knob absent
B4	eryoneicus larva	zoea larva
C1	mxp3 with crista dentata	crista dentata absent
C2	mxp3 with blunt dactylus	mxp3 with sharp dactylus
C3	propodus and dactylus of p1 with double-hinge	articulation simple
C4	5th pereiopod with many scale like teeth	with few triangular teeth
C5	wide and rounded telson	narrow triangular telson
C6	brain with accessory lobes	accessory lobes absent
D1	al with asymmetrical and twisted flagella	al with straight flagella
D2	basal articles of a2 fused medially with carapace and epistome	a2 unfused with carapace
D3	pereiopods without chelae	p1 to p3 chelate
D4	knob between 8th thoracic segment and carapace	knob absent
D5	soft tail fan	hard tail fan
D6	phyllosoma larva	zoea larva
E1	mandible with strong trapezoid molar process	weaker molar process
E2	hypertrophied 1st cheliped	1st cheliped similar to other pereiopods
E3	grooming appendage (p5) in both sexes	in females only
E4	flat mid-lateral pleonic hinges	prominent lateral hinges
E5	proto-, deuto- and tritocerebrum in one plain	with raised protocerebrum
F1	carapace grooves form a W	grooves form no W
F2	telson with post-lateral spines	spines absent or more anterior
F3	crescent larval telson with three large spines	this combination of shape and spines absent
F4	young hatch at mysis stage	young hatch as early zoea
F5	spermatozoa with elongated acrosome	sperm with spherical acrosome
G1	movable 8th thoracic sternite	8th thoracic sternite fused with anterior sternites
G2	secula with three sclerites	secula with two or less sclerites
H1	dactylus of p5 with comb-like spines	p5 chelate with scale-like teeth
H2	embryonic growth zone with 40 ectoteloblasts	growth zone with 19 ectoteloblasts
H3	hatchlings lacking zoeal characters	hatchlings with zoeal characters
I1	flattened and upright 1st cheliped	1st cheliped not flat and inclined
I2	large 7th thoracic sternite with anterior edge and posterior lobes	this character combination absent
13	posterior carapace margin with cardiac notches	cardiac notches absent
I4	narrow waist in the area of 1st pleomer	1st pleomer wide
15	complex vertical burrows	simple horizontal burrows
J1	a1 double bent, flagella short and highly asymmetrical	a1 straight, flagella long and slightly asymmetrical
J2	exopods of maxillipeds with double bent flagella	with straight flagella
J3	p2 and p3 without chelae	p1 to p3 chelate
J4	ganglia of 1st pleon and last thoracic segments fused	these ganglia unfused
K1	carapace with linea anomalica	carapace without linea
K2	1st article of a2 in carapace notch	a2 not in notch
K3	inverted joints between coxae and sternites in	regular joints
		C 7

# (continued)

318

the thoracic region

	Apomorphic	Plesiomorphic
K4	p5 reduced and in branchial chamber	p5 large and outside branchial chamber
K5	telson with cross-like sutures	cross-like sutures absent
K6	p5 of late zoea reduced and in antero-medial position	p5 aligned with other pereiopods and not reduced
K7	stalked spermatophores	spermatophores unstalked
L1	fossa orbito-antennularis	fossa absent
L2	fusion of epistomial ridge and carapace margin	epistome and carapace unfused
L3	mxp3 with expansions of merus and ischium	mxp3 leg like without expansions
L4	movable finger of cheliped external	movable finger internal
L5	fused thoracic sternum	last thoracic sternite movable
L6	ventrally flexed pleon with vestigial uropods	straight pleon with uropods
L7	strong sexual dimorphism of pleon	slight sexual dimorphism

TABLE 1. (continued).

apomorphies, the lack of grooming chelae in the 5th pereiopods of the males, and the gill formula which is more complete than in homarids (Gurney, 1938) might indicate a possible sister-group relationship between enoplometopodids and all other macrochelates.

One of the unsolved problems of our phylogenetic analysis is the systematic position of the freshwater crayfishes (Astacida). We can show that the Astacida most probably represents a monophyletic group (see also Scholtz, 1993), although its sister-group remains obscure. Our investigation clearly suggests that the traditional view of a close relationship between homarids and astacids cannot be maintained. Whether the Astacida is the sister-group of both the Thalassinida and the Meiura or exclusively of the Thalassinida remains an open question. The shape of the ischium of the first pereiopod of astacids resembles that of thalassinids (see above), but this apomorphy is not very convincing and is probably a convergence, because a similar character can be seen in some brachyurans (e.g. Carcinus maenas). On the other hand, thalassinids share a number of characters with the meiurans, namely the lack of chelae in the third pereiopods, the reduction of some giant neurons in the nerve cord (Paul, 1991), and the fusion of basis and ischium in all pereiopods (a character which occurs convergently in polychelids, achelates and some carideans (Burkenroad, 1981)). These common characters might indicate a possible sister-group relationship between Thalassinida and Meirua.

### 'Anomura' and the phylogenetic position of the Thalassinida

The 'Anomura' has always been a group under dispute. There has been little doubt that galatheoids, lomids, hippoids and paguroids form a monophyletic taxon, the Anomala (Anomura *sensu stricto*) (e.g. Boas, 1880; Burkenroad, 1963; McLaughlin, 1983; Martin & Abele, 1986). We agree with McLaughlin's (1983) phylogenetic diagnosis of anomalan monophyly, although some of the characters which she suggested to be apomorphies for this taxon are actually plesiomorphies. The movable last thoracic sternite, for instance, is an apomorphy of the Fractosternalia, and the fusion of the last thoracic and the 1st pleonic ganglia an apomorphy of the Meiura.

In contrast to the situation in the Anomala, the interrelationships of the

Thalassinida and their monophyly are controversial. Borradaile (1903, 1907) was the first to stress similarities between the thalassinids and anomalans of Boas (1880), and he combined these groups in the 'Anomura', a view adopted by several authors (e.g. Balss, 1957; McLaughlin, 1980). In their cladistic analysis Martin & Abele (1986) came to a similar conclusion. According to them, the thalassinids are the sister-group of the Anomala (their anomurans *sensu stricto*). The above close affinities between thalassinids and Anomala have nevertheless been doubted by authors such as Bouvier (1940), Kaestner (1970), de Saint Laurent (1979a) and Burkenroad (1963, 1981).

Our cladistic analysis reveals a sister-group relationship between the Anomala (excluding the thalassinids!) and the Brachyura, both forming the monophylum Meiura. The Thalassinida (or Thalassinida and Astacida) is the sister group of the Meiura, and the 'Anomura' of Borradaile (1907) represents a paraphyletic assemblage. Similarities between thalassinids and anomalans are only superficial and concern their general appearance, such as a soft cuticle, a narrow waist, and the occurrence of a 'linea' on the lateral sides of the carapace. These characters are clearly convergent. The soft cuticle and narrow waist of some hermit crabs have been evolved within the paguroids and are not part of the anomalan ground pattern (Richter & Scholtz, 1994). The 'linea anomalica' is not homologous to the 'linea thalassinica' since the latter seems to have evolved within the thalassinids and several thalassinidan groups lack a linea (see also Poore, 1992). Furthermore, in contrast to the 'linea thalassinica' the 'linea anomurica' always ends in a wide field of uncalcified cuticle and in a lower position on the posterior carapace margin.

The characters mentioned by Martin & Abele (1986), which would indicate a sister-group relationship between Thalassinida and Anomala, are all either plesiomorphic (e.g. unfused last thoracic sternite, crista dentata, achelate 3rd pereiopod) or convergent (e.g. linea thalassinica, linea anomalica). This erroneous interpretation of characters is due to the choice of a too distantly related outgroup (*Panaeus*) and the omission of a possible sister group (Brachyura). This results in the entire evolution of characters within the reptantians being neglected and the data used by Martin & Abele necessarily culminating in a false thalassinid anomalan sister-group relationship.

The monophyletic origin of Thalassinida has been doubted by some authors. Gurney (1924, 1938, 1942) and de Saint Laurent (1973) stress the similarity of the zoeal 3rd maxilliped of the thalassinidan subgroups Laomediidae and Upogebiidae with that of the anomalans. The main feature in this comparison is that the zoeal endopod originates near the proximal end of the basis and not at the distal end, as in other decapods. On these grounds Gurney (1924, 1938, 1942) and de Saint Laurent (1973) suggest a closer relationship between laomediids, upogebiids and the Anomala. This would mean the thalassinids are paraphyletic. However, Gurney (1924) has described a larval 3rd maxilliped in stenopodids which also resembles that of anomalan larvae. This character is apparently not homologous and thus it is also highly likely to have been evolved convergently in thalassinids and anomalans.

In contrast to the suggestions of Gurney (1924, 1938, 1942) and de Saint Laurent (1973), our results indicate thalassinidan monophyly (see also Poore, 1992). Otherwise, all apomorphic characters shared by the thalassinid species would be convergent, which is unlikely.

# The monophyly of the Brachyura and the phylogeny of the 'Dromiacea'

The monophyletic origin of the Brachyura, and the phylogenetic position of the 'Dromiacea' in particular, have been debated for more than a century. Based on similarities in adult morphology, some authors have included the 'Dromiacea' in the Brachyura (e.g. Boas, 1880; Borradaile, 1907; Beurlen & Glaessner, 1930; Bouvier, 1940; Abrahamczik-Scanzoni, 1942; Balss, 1957; Glaessner, 1969; Warner, 1977; de Saint Laurent, 1980a). On the other hand, because dromiaceans lack several features of other brachyurans, there has been considerable doubt about whether they are 'true' brachyuran crabs at all and whether they should not be separated from the Brachyura (e.g. Ortmann, 1892, 1896; Gordon, 1963; Guinot, 1978, 1979; de Saint Laurent, 1979b).

The main arguments for the exclusion of dromiaceans or at least dromiids are based on investigations on sperm ultrastructure, larval development and RNA sequences (see Spears *et al.*, 1992).

Based on investigations of sperm ultrastructure, Jamieson (1990, 1991) has discussed the possible relationships between dromiids and true Brachyura. In general, dromiid spermatozoa differ from brachyuran spermatozoa in some characters which might be plesiomorphic, such as the relatively simple acrosome which is not embedded in the nucleus as in the true brachyuran sperm, and in some characters that represent dromiid apomorphies, such as the capitate form of the perforatorium. On the other hand, the tubular elements in the perforatorium of dromiids could be viewed as an apomorphy of dromiids and other brachyurans (Jamieson, 1990). The brevity of nuclear arms found in dromiids seems to be an apomorphic loss, since three nuclear arms are most likely part of the ground pattern of the Reptantia (see above). In summary, sperm ultrastructure provides no evidence for the exclusion of dromiids from the Brachyura but at least one character which might indicate close relationship.

Anomalan and thalassinid affinities of dromiaceans have been suggested by students of larval development, because the appearance of dromiacean zoea larvae differs from that of other brachyuran zoeae but resembles to a certain extent that of anomalans and thalassinids (e.g. Gurney, 1942; Williamson, 1974, 1988; Rice, 1980, 1983; Martin, 1991). The second telson process is regarded as having particular significance, as it is hair-like in zoea larvae of dromiids, thalassinids, anomalans and stenopodids, but is either a spine or absent in all other decapods (Rice, 1980, 1983). The phylogenetic study of Spears *et al.* (1992), based on 18S rRNA, also places the dromiids within the Anomala. We regard this as unlikely because the consequence of all these suggestions of either anomalan or thalassinid relationships would be that all brachyuran-like characters—some of them of high complexity—of dromiaceans were the result of convergent evolution.

Our own phylogenetic analysis suggests a monophyletic origin of all Brachyura including dromiaceans, because dromiaceans share a number of derived and apparently homologous characters (apomorphies) with 'true' crabs, and lack all anomalan apomorphies. We can show that the Brachyura is the sister-group of the Anomala. The larval characters of dromiaceans which resemble those of anomalans and thalassinids are plesiomorphic (e.g. the hair-like second telson process, see also Burkenroad (1981)) and inherited from the last common ancestor of Meiura (Brachyura and Anomala) or of Thalassinida and Meiura

### G. SCHOLTZ AND S. RICHTER

respectively. In other words, larval development in dromiaceans shows some plesiomorphic characteristics which are combined with brachyuran apomorphies in the adult animals. No venturesome hypotheses, such as transspecific gene-flow from interbreeding between a true anomalan with a true brachyuran (Williamson, 1988), are required to explain this blend. All organisms represent mosaics of plesiomorphic and apomorphic characters, and a faster evolution of adult than of larval characters has apparently taken place in the ancestral lineage (*sensu* Meier & Richter, 1992) of brachyurans.

It is beyond the scope of this paper to reconstruct phylogenetic relationships within the Brachyura, although some aspects can be discussed concerning the affinities and phylogeny of the 'Dromiacea'. In the classical works of Boas (1880), Ortmann (1892, 1896) and Borradaile (1907), the homolids are placed within the dromiaceans. This has been questioned by Williamson (1974), Guinot (1978, 1979) and Rice (1980) who propose a closer relationship between homolids and 'higher' brachyurans. A tentative first phylogenetic analysis based on our own investigations and data from the literature also suggests that dromiaceans are not a monophyletic taxon but a paraphyletic assemblage.

The homolodromiids branch off first from the brachyuran lineage and are the sister-group of all other brachyurans. They retained some plesiomorphic characters such as trichobranchiate gills, the relatively narrow sternite of the cheliped segment, and the upper position of the sternite of the segment of the 3rd maxillipeds (Milne Edwards & Bouvier, 1902; Doflein, 1904; Ihle, 1913; Martin, 1992). The next branch is formed by the homolids, which are the sister-group of dromiids and the 'true' Brachyura. Like the remaining crabs, homolids possess phyllobranch gills and the sternite of the segment of the 3rd maxillipeds is on the same level as the sternites of the pereion. The sternite associated with the chelipeds is wide. The dromiids, which branch off next, share with the rest of the Brachyura (their sister-group) the true operculiform 3rd maxillipeds and an elongate epipodite of the 1st maxilliped, which forms the gill cleaning flabellum (Balss, 1940). The epipodite of the 1st maxilliped in homolodromiids and homolids is relatively short and similar to that of astacids (Doflein, 1904; Milne Edwards & Bouvier, 1902), and is regarded as plesiomorphic.

This is a preliminary analysis and more detailed studies are necessary to show whether it holds true and whether homolodromiids, homolids and dromiids themselves are monophyletic.

# Reptantian monophyly and a possible sister-group

That the Reptantia represent a monophyletic taxon can be shown by several apomorphies, and the doubts of Felgenhauer & Abele (1983) and Abele (1991) in this regard cannot be substantiated. The group 'Trichelida' of Beurlen & Glaessner (1930), which includes the dendrobranchiates, the stenopodids and some reptantians, is artificial and based on the plesiomorphic character of the first three pairs of pereiopods bearing chelae. It seems likely that three pairs of chelae are part of the decapod ground pattern (Christoffersen, 1988a) and that all other patterns are derived.

The identity of the sister-group of the reptantians is still unclear (see Burkenroad, 1981; Felgenhauer & Abele, 1983; Christofferson, 1988a; Abele,

322

1991). We agree with Kim & Abele (1990) and Abele (1991) that the stenopodids are the most likely candidates. Stenopodidea and Reptantia share several derived features, such as the reduced 1st pleomer, a similar form of foregut (Felgenhauer & Abele, 1989), and spermatozoa that lack the single acrosomal spike found in dendrobranchiates and carideans (Jamieson, 1991; Felgenhauer & Abele, 1991). The pleura of the 2nd pleon segment are a problem. In several reptantians, such as the polychelids, homarids, astacids, and the thalassinid genus *Naushonia* (Berggren, 1992), these pleura overlap those of the 1st and 3rd pleomer, corresponding to the situation found in carideans (including procarideans) (Burkenroad, 1981; Christofferson, 1988a). This is not the case in stenopodids where the pleura of the 2nd pleon segment overlap only those of the 3rd, as in dendrobranchiates. Large pleura of the 2nd pleon segment, which overlap the 1st and 3rd pleomer in combination with the characteristic hump formed by the 3rd pleomer, are probably part of the pleocyemate ground pattern. These structures could play a role in forming a brood chamber for the developing embryos. Many reptantians and stenopodids could have reduced the anterior expansion of the pleura of the 2nd pleon segment convergently.

# The reptantian ground pattern

The morphology and habits of the Ur-reptantian have been the subject of some conjecture. Burkenroad (1963), for instance, speculated that the early reptantians were thalassinid-like animals. We do not think that this is plausible. Thalassinids are specialized burrowers which are derived from the reptant ground pattern in many respects. If Burkenroad's hypothesis was true, all corresponding characters in polychelids, achelates, homarids and astacids would be convergent and the plesiomorphic characters of the polychelids must all be secondary alterations towards a natant type of decapod. Both is very unlikely.

Suggestions concerning the ground pattern of the reptantians should be based on knowledge of the phylogenetic system. We draw the following conclusions about the morphology and habits of the stem species of the reptantians (crownreptantians **sensu** Jefferies, 1979) from the distribution of characters in the phylogenetic system of the Reptantia.

The reptantian stem-species seems to have been a bottom dweller, since most apomorphies of reptantians can be seen as adaptations to a benthic life style: the dorso-ventrally flattened body, the strongly calcified cuticle, the stable connection between carapace and pleon, and the articulation of the pereiopods. The original reptantian probably had a similar overall appearance to recent homarids but was somewhat smaller. Apart from the reptantian apomorphies, it possessed a cylindrical carapace, three pairs of more or less equally sized chelae, a fused 7th and 8th thoracic sternite, strong mid-lateral hinges between all pleon segments, and an elongated triangular telson. The cuticle was less calcified than that of recent crayfishes but more so than that of the natant decapods. The animal swam by beating its pleopods which were equipped with an appendix interna. The triassic Clytiopsinae (Beurlen & Glaessner, 1930) correspond quite well with our reconstruction and we surmise that from such a form one branch led to recent deep-sea dwelling polychelids and another to the Eureptantia. The additional characters acquired by the eureptantians resulted in the modern reptantians with their great variety of morphology and habits.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank H.-E. Gruner, T. Wolff, L. Tiefenbacher, and R. B. Manning for the loan of material and H.-E. Gruner and R. B. Manning for providing literature. We are indebted to S. Secretan, D. C. Sandeman, W. Dohle and H.-E. Gruner for critical comments on the manuscript. We thank P. Adam for the exceptional artwork (Figs 8, 10, 13, 14, 21) and P. Lederer for technical assistance. We are grateful to the participants of the workshop 'Gesprächskreis Phylogenetische Systematik' in Berlin (1992) for helpful discussions. S. Richter was supported by the 'Studienstiftung des Deutschen Volkes'.

#### REFERENCES

Abele LG. 1983. Classification of the Decapoda. In: Mantel LH, ed. The biology of the Crustacea. V. Internal anatomy and physiological regulation. New York: Academic Press, xxi-xxiii.

Abele LG. 1991. Comparison of morphological and molecular phylogeny of the Decapoda. *Memoirs of the Queensland Museum* 31: 101-108.

Abele LG, Felgenhauer BE. 1986. Phylogenetic and phenetic relationships among the lower Decapoda. Journal of Crustacean Biology 6: 385–400.

Abrahamczik-Scanzoni H. 1942. Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Muskulatur und des Innenskeletts der Krabben. Zoologische Jahrbücher. Abeilung Anatomie und Ontogenie der Tiere 67: 293–380.

Albrecht H. 1980. Untersuchungen zur Evolution und Systematik der europäischen Flußkrebse und ihrer Verwandten. Unpublished D. Phil. Thesis, Unversität Marburg.

Andrews EA. 1911. Sperm transfer in certain decapods. Proceedings of the United States National Museum 39: 419-434.

Atkinson RJA, Taylor AC. 1988. Physiological ecology of burrowing decapods. In: Fincham AA, Rainbow PS, eds. Aspects of decapod crustacean biology. Symposium of the Zoological Society London 59: 201–226.

Ax P. 1987. The phylogenetic system. The systematization of organisms on the basis of their phylogenies. Chichester: J. Wiley & Sons.

Báez RP, Martin JW. 1989. Crabs of the family Homolodromiidae, I. Description of the male of Homolodromia robertsi Garth, 1973, based on specimens from deep waters off the coast of Chile. Journal of Crustacean Biology 9: 492–500.

Balss H. 1940. Decapoda. III. Morphologischer Teil. In: Bronns Klassen und Ordnungen des Tierreichs, Band 5, Abteilung 1,7(1). Leipzig: Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft, 22–160.

Balss H. 1941. Decapoda. III. Morphologischer Teil. In: Bronns Klassen und Ordnungen des Tierreichs, Band 5, Abteilung 1,7(2). Leipzig: Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft, 161–183.

Balss H. 1957. Decapoda. VIII. Systematik. In: Bronns Klassen und Ordnungen des Tierreichs, Band 5, Abteilung 1,7(12). Leipzig: Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft, 1505–1672.

Barnes RD. 1987. Invertebrate zoology. Philadelphia: Saunders College Publishing.

Barnard KH. 1950. Descriptive catalogue of South African decapod Crustacea. Annals of the South African Museum 38: 1-837.

Bauer RT. 1976. Mating behaviour and spermatophore transfer in the shrimp *Heptacarpus pictus* (Stimpson) (Decapoda: Caridea: Hippolytidae). *Journal of Natural History* 10: 415–440.

Bauer RT. 1981. Grooming behaviour and morphology in the decapod Crustacea. Journal of Crustacean Biology 1: 153–173.

Bauer RT. 1989. Decapod crustacean grooming: Functional morphology, adaptive value, and phylogenetic significance. In: Felgenhauer BE, Watling L, Thistle AB, eds. *Functional morphology of feeding and grooming in Crustacea*. Rotterdam: A.A. Balkema, 49–73.

Bauer RT. 1992. Repetitive copulation and variable success of insemination in the marine shrimp Sicyonia dorsalis (Decapoda: Penaeoidea). Journal of Crustacean Biology 12: 153-160.

Berggren M. 1992. Naushonia lactoalbida, new species (Decapoda: Thalassinidea: Laomediidae), a mud shrimp from Inhaca Island, Mocambique. Journal of Crustatean Biology 12: 514–522.

Bernard F. 1953. Decapoda Eryonidae. Dana Reports 37: 1-93.

Berry PF. 1970. Mating behaviour, oviposition and fertilisation in the spiny lobster Panulirus homarus (Linnaeus). Oceanographic Research Institute (Durban) Investigational Report 24: 1-16.

Beurlen K, Glaessner MF. 1930. Systematik der Crustacea Decapoda auf stammesgeschichtlicher Grundlage. Zoologische Jahrbücher. Abteilung Systematik, Ökologie und Geographie der Tiere 60: 49-84.

Boas JEV. 1880. Studier over Decapodernes Slaegtskabsforhold. Videnskabelege Selskab Skrifter 6. Raekke, naturvidenskabeleg og mathematisk Afd. I.2: 25-210.
 Boas JEV. 1939. Die Gattung Polycheles, ihre verwandtschaftliche Stellung und ihre postembryonale

Boas JEV. 1939. Die Gattung *Polycheles*, ihre verwandtschaftliche Stellung und ihre postembryonale Entwicklung. *Det Kgl. Danske Videnskabernes Selskab Biologiske Meddelelser* 14, 7: 1–32.

Boddeke R, Bosschieter JR, Goudswaard PC. 1991. Sex change, mating, and sperm transfer in *Crangon crangon* (L.). In: Bauer RT, Martin JW, eds. *Crustacean sexual biology*. New York: Columbia University Press, 164–182.

Borradaile LA. 1903. On the classification of the Thalassinidae. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (7) 12: 534–551.

Borradaile LA. 1907. On the classification of the decapod crustaceans. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (7) 19: 457-486.

Bott R. 1940. Begattung und Eiablage von Eupagurus prideauxi Leach. Zeitschrift für Morphologie und Ökologie der Tiere 36: 651-667.

Bouvier E-L. 1889. Le système nerveux des Crustaces Décapodes et ses rapports avec l'appareil circulatoire. Annales des Sciences Naturelle (7) 7: 73-106.

Bouvier E-L. 1940. Décapodes marcheurs. Faune de France 37: 1-399, 14 plates.

Bowman TE, Abele LG. 1982. Classification of the recent Crustacea. In: Abele LG, ed. The biology of the Crustacea. I. Systematics, the fossil record and biogeography. New York: Academic Press, 1–27.

- Bruce AJ, Baba K. 1973. *Spongiocaris*, a new genus of stenopodidean shrimp from New Zealand and South African waters, with a description of two new species (Decapoda Natantia, Stenopodidea) *Crustaceana* 25: 153–170.
- Burkenroad MD. 1963. The evolution of the Eucarida, (Crustacea, Eumalacostraca), in relation to the fossil record. *Tulane Studies in Geology.* 2: 2–17.

Burkenroad MD. 1981. The higher taxonomy and evolution of Decapoda (Crustacea). Transactions of the San Diego Society of Natural History 19: 251-268.

Chace FA. Jr, Kensley B. 1992. The cardiac notch in decapods. Journal of Crustacean Biology 12: 442-447.

Christoffersen ML. 1988a. Phylogenetic systematics of the Eucarida (Crustacea Malacostraca). Revista brasileira de Zoologia 5: 325-351.

Christoffersen ML. 1988b. Genealogy and phylogenetic classification of the world Crangonidae (Crustacea, Caridea), with a new species and new records for the south western Atlantic. *Revista nordestina de Biologia* 6: 43–59.

Davie PJF. 1990. A new genus and species of marine crayfish, *Palibythus magnificus*, and new records of *Palinurellus* (Decapoda: Palinuridae) from the Pacific Ocean. *Invertebrate Taxonomy* 4: 685–695.

Debelius H. 1983. Gepanzerte Meeresritter. Essen: A. Kernen Verlag.

Dechancé M. 1961. Sur la morphologie externe des larves de Pagurides. I. *Catapaguroides timidus* (Roux). *Crustaceana* 2: 53-67.

Doflein F. 1904. Brachyura. In: Chun C, ed. Wissenschaftliche Ergebnisse der deutschen Tiefsee-Expedition auf dem Dampfer 'Valdivia' 1889-1899. 6, Brachyura. Jena: Gustav Fischer Verlag, 1–314, 58 plates.

Dohle W. 1972. Über die Bildung und Differenzierung des postnauplialen Keimstreifs von Leptochelia spec. (Crustacea, Tanaidacea). Zoologische Jahrbücher. Abteilung Anatomie und Ontogenie der Tiere 89: 503–566.

Donaldson WE, Adams AE. 1989. Ethogram of behavior with emphasis on mating for the tanner crab Chionoecites bairdi Rathbun. Journal of Crustacean Biology 9: 37-53.

Drach P. 1950. Les ètapes évolutives de l'endosquelette chez les Crustacés Décapodes. Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de l'académie des sciences, Paris 231: 1563-1565.

Felgenhauer BE, Abele LG. 1983. Phylogenetic relationships among shrimp-like decapods. In: Schram FR, ed. *Crustacean phylogeny*. Rotterdam: Balkema, 291-311.

Felgenhauer BE, Abele LG. 1989. Evolution of the foregut in lower Decapoda. In: Felgenhauer BE, Watling L, Thistle AB, eds. *Functional morphology of feeding and grooming in Crustacea*. Rotterdam: Balkema, 205–219.

Felgenhauer BE, Abele LG. 1991. Morphological diversity of decapod spermatozoa. In: Bauer RT, Martin JW, eds. *Crustacean sexual biology.* New York: Columbia University Press, 322–341.

Forest J, Saint Laurent de M. 1981. La morphologie externe de Neoglyphea inopinata, espèce actuelle de Crustacé Décapode Glyphéide. In: Résultats des Campagnes Musorstom. I.- Philippines (18–28 mars 1976), Volume 1 (2). Mémoires ORSTOM 91: 51–84.

Forest J, Saint Laurent de M. 1989. Nouvelle contribution à la connaissance de Neoglyphea inopinata Forest & de Saint Laurent, à propos de la description de la femelle adulte. In: Forest J, ed. Résultats des Campagnes Musorstom. Volume 5. Mémoires du Museúm nationale d'histoire naturelle (A) 144: 75–92.

George RW, Main AR. 1967. The evolution of spiny lobsters (Palinuridae): a study of evolution in the marine environment. *Evolution* 21: 803–820.

Glaessner MF. 1969. Decapoda. In: Moore RC, ed. Treatise on Invertebrate Paleontology, Part R, Arthropoda 4, Vol. 2. Geological Society of America and University of Kansas Press, R399–R651.

Götting K-J. 1985. Mollusca. In: Siewing R, ed. Lehrbuch der Zoologie. Band 2, Systematik. Stuttgart: Gustav Fischer Verlag, 653-700.

Gordon I. 1960. On the genus Justitia Holthuis (Decapoda, Palinuridae) with a note on allometric growth in *Panulirus ornatus* (Fabricius). Crustaceana 1: 295–306.

Gordon I. 1963. On the relationship of Dromiacea, Tymolinae and Raninidae to the Brachyura. In: Whittington HB, Rolfe WDI, eds. *Phylogeny and evolution of Crustacea*. Cambridge: Museum of Comparative Zoology, 51–57.

Gore RH. 1987. Callianidea vandoverae species nova (Decapoda, Thalassinidea, Callianideidae) from off the central eastern Florida coast, U.S.A. Crustaceana 53: 186–194.

Griffis RB, Suchanek TH. 1991. A model of burrow architecture and trophic modes in thalassinidean shrimp (Decapoda: Thalassinidea). *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 79: 171–183.

Griffith GCD. 1973. Some fundamental problems in biological classification. Systematic Zoology 22: 338-343.

Griffith GCD. 1976. The future of Linnaean nomenclature. Systematic Zoology 25: 168-173.

Guinot D. 1978. Principes d'une classification évolutive des Crustacés Décapodes Brachyoures. Bulletin biologique de la France et de la Belgique 112: 211–292.

Guinot D. 1979. Données nouvelles sur la morphologie, la phylogenèse et la taxonomie des Crustacés Décapodes Brachyoures. *Mémoires du Museum nationale d'histoire naturelle* (A) 112: 1–354.

Gurney R. 1924. Decapod Larvae. Natural History Reports 'Terra Nova' Expedition Zoology, Crustacea 8: 37–202.
 Gurney R. 1938. Larvae of decapod Crustacea. Part V. Nephropsidea and Thalassinidea. 'Discovery' reports 17: 291–344.

Gurney R. 1942. Larvae of decapod Crustacea. London: Ray Society.

- Helluy SM, Beltz BS. 1991. Embyronic development of the American Lobster (*Homarus americanus*): quantitative staging and characterization of an embryonic molt cycle. *Biological Bulletin* 180: 355–371.
- Helm F. 1928. Vergleichend-anatomische Untersuchungen über das Gehirn, insbesondere das 'Antennalganglion' der Dekapoden. Zeitschrift für Morphologie und Ökologie der Tiere 12: 70-134, 3 plates.

Hennig W. 1950. Grundzüge einer Theorie der phylogenetischen Systematik. Berlin: Deutscher Zentralverlag.

Hennig W. 1966. Phylogenetic systematics. Urbana: University of Illinios Press.

Hennig W. 1986. Taschenbuch der Zoologie, Band 3. Wirbellose //. Jena: VEB Gustav Fischer Verlag.

- Herrick FH. 1895. The American lobster: a study of its habits and development. Bulletin of the United States Fish Commission 15: 1-252.
- Hinsch GW. 1991. Structure and chemical content of the spermatopohores and seminal fluid of reptantian decapods. In: Bauer RT, Martin JW, eds. *Crustacean sexual biology*. New York: Columbia University Press, 290–307.

Hobbs HH. 1974. Synopsis of the families and genera of crayfishes (Crustacea, Decapoda). Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology 164: 1-32.

- Holthuis LB. 1974. The lobsters of the superfamily Nephropidea of the Atlantic Ocean (Crustacea: Decapoda). Biological results of the University of Miami deep-sea expeditions. 106. Bulletin of Marine Science of the Gulf and Caribbean 24: 723–884.
- Holthuis LB. 1983. Notes on the genus *Enoplometopus*, with descriptions of a new subgenus and two new species (Crustacea Decapoda, Axiidae). *Zoologische Medadelingen* 56: 281–298.
- Holthuis LB. 1991. FAO species catalogue. Vol. 13. Marine lobsters of the world. An annotated and illustrated catalogue of species of interest to fisheries known to date. FAO Fisheries Synopsis No. 125 13: 1–292.

Huxley TH. 1884. The crayfish (4th edition). London: Kegan Paul, Trench & Co.

Ihle JEW. 1913. Decapoda, Brachyura. I. Dromiacea, Siboga-Expeditie Vol. 26. Decapoda E. Mon. 39 b: 1–96, 4 plates.

Jamieson BGM. 1990. The ultrastructure of the spermatozoa of *Petalomera lateralis* (Gray) (Crustacea, Brachyura, Dromiacea) and its phylogenetic significance. *Invertebrate Reproduction and Development* 17: 39–45.

Jamieson BGM. 1991. Ultrastructure and phylogeny of crustacean spermatozoa. *Memoirs of the Queensland Museum* 31: 109–142.

Jefferies RPS. 1979. The origin of chordates—a methodological essay. In: House MR, ed. The origin of major invertebrate groups. London: Academic Press, 443–477.

- Jorgensen OM. 1925. The early stages of *Nephrops norvegicus* from Northumberland plankton, together with a note on the post-larval development of *Homarus vulgaris. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* 13: 870–879.
- Kaestner A. 1967. Lehrbuch der Speziellen Zoologie. Band 1: Wirbellose, 2. Teil, Crustacea. Stuttgart: Gustav Fischer Verlag, 849-1242.
- Kaestner A. 1970. Invertebrate Zoology, 3. Crustacea. (transl. by HW Levi & LR Levi) New York: Interscience Publishing.

Kim W, Abele LG. 1990. Molecular phylogeny of selected decapod crustaceans based on 18S rRNA nucleotide sequences. *Journal of Crustacean Biology* 10: 1-13.

Kishinouye K. 1900. On the nauplius stage of Penaeus. Zoologischer Anzeiger 23: 73-75.

Knight MD. 1966. The larval development of *Polyonyx quadriungulatus* Glassell and *Pachycheles rudis* Stimpson (Decapoda, Porcellanidae) cultured in the Laboratory. *Crustaceana* 10: 75–97.

Knight MD. 1970. The larval development of *Lepidopa myops* Stimpson, (Decapoda, Albuneidae) reared in the laboratory, and the zoeal stages of another species of the genus from California and the pacific coast of Baja California, Mexico. *Crustaceana* 19: 125–156.

Koltzoff NK. 1906. Studien über die Gestalt der Zelle. I. Untersuchungen über die Spermien der Decapoden als Einleitung in das Problem der Zellgestalt. Archiv für Mikrobiologie und Anatomie 67: 364–572.

Laverack MS, Ardill DJ. 1965. The innervation of the aesthetasc hairs of *Panulirus argus. Quarterly Journal* of Microscopical Science 106: 45-60.

326

- Lesser JHR. 1974. Identification of early larvae of New Zealand spiny and shovel-nosed lobsters (Decapoda, Palinuridae and Scyllaridae). *Crustaceana* 27: 259–277.
- Lutze J. 1938. Ueber Systematik, Entwicklung and Oekologie von Callianassa. Helgoländer wissenschaftliche Meeresuntersuchungen 1: 162–199.
- Man de JG. 1916. Eryonidae, Palinuridae, Scyllaridae and Nephropsidae. *Siboga-Expeditie Vol.* 23. Decapoda B. Mon. 39 a2: 1–122, 4 plates.
- Manning RB, Chace FA. Jr. 1990. Decapod and stomatopod Crustacea from Ascension Island, South Atlantic Ocean. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology 503: 1–91.
- Martin JW. 1991. Crabs of the family Homolodromiidae, III. First record of the larvae. Journal of Crustacean Biology 11: 156-161.
- Martin JW. 1992. Crabs of the family Homolodromiidae, IV. Rediscovery and redescription of Homolodromia bouvieri Doflein, 1904 (Decapoda, Dromiacea) from Mozambique. Journal of Crustacean Biology 12: 145–150.
- Martin JW, Abele LG. 1986. Phylogenetic relationships of the genus *Aegla* (Decapoda: Anomura: Aeglidae), with comments on anomuran phylogeny. *Journal of Crustacean Biology* 6: 576–616.
- McLaughlin PA. 1980. Comparative Morphology of recent Crustacea. San Francisco: W. H. Freeman & Co.
- McLaughlin PA. 1983. Hermit crabs—are they really polyphyletic? Journal of Crustacean Biology 3: 608–621.
- McLaughlin PA, Holthuis LB. 1985. Anomura versus Anomala. Crustaceana 49: 204–209.
- McLay CL. 1993. Crustacea Decapoda: The sponge crabs (Dromiidae) of New Caledonia and the Philippines with a review of the genera. *Mémoires Museum nationale Histoire naturelle* 156: 111-251.
- Meier R, Richter S. 1992. Suggestions for a more precise usage of proper names of taxa. Zeitschrift für zoologische Systematik und Evolutionsforchung 30: 81-88.
- Milne Edwards A, Bouvier EL. 1902. Les Dromiacés et Oxystomes. Memoirs of the Museum of Comparative Zoology 27: 1-127, 25 plates.
- Ortmann A. 1892. Die Decapoden-Krebse des Strassburger Museums, mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der von Herrn Dr. Döderlein bei Japan und bei den Liu-Kiu-Inseln gesammelten und z.Z. im Strassburger Museum aufbewahrten Formen. V. Theil. Die Abteilungen Hippidea, Dromiidea und Oxystomata. Zoologische Jahrbücher. Abteilung Systematik, Ökologie und Geographie der Tiere 6: 532-588.
- Ortmann AE. 1896. Das System der Decapoden-Krebse. Zoologische Jahrbücher. Abteilung Systematik, Ökologie und Georgraphie der Tiere 9: 409-453.
- Paul DH. 1989. A neurophylogenist's view of decapod Crustacea. Bulletin of Marine Science 45: 487-504.
- Paul DH. 1991. Pedigrees of neurobehavioral circuits: tracing the evolution of novel behaviors by comparing motor patterns, muscles, and neurons in members of related taxa. *Brain, Behaviour and Evolution* 38: 226– 239.
- Pike BR. 1947. Galathea. Memoirs on Typical British Marine Plants and Animals. Liverpool Marine Biological Committee. 34: 1–138, 20 plates.
- Pilgrim RLC. 1973. Axial skeleton and musculature in the thorax of the hermit crab, *Pagurus bernhardus* (Anomura: Paguridae). *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* 53: 363–396.
- Pilgrim RLC, Wiersma CAG. 1963. Observations on the skeleton and somatic musculature of the abdomen and thorax of *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard), with notes on the thorax of *Panulirus interruptus* (Randall) and *Astacus. Journal of Morphology* 113: 453–487.
- Poore GCB. 1992. New observations on the phylogeny of the Thalassinidea. First European Crustacean Conference (Abstract), 118.
- Rabalais NN, Gore RH. 1985. Abbreviated development in decapods. In: Schram FR, Wenner AM, eds. Larval growth. Rotterdam: Balkema, 67-126.
- Rayner MD. 1965. A reinvestigation of the segmentation of the crayfish abdomen and thorax, based on a study of the deep flexor muscles and their relation to the skeleton and innervation. *Journal of Morphology* 116: 389–412.
- Rice AL. 1980. Crab zoeal morphology and its bearing on the classification of the Brachyura. Transactions of the Zoological Society of London 35: 271-424.
- Rice AL. 1983. Zoeal evidence for brachyuran phylogeny. In: Schram FR, ed. *Crustacean phylogeny*. Rotterdam: Balkema, 313–329.
- Richter S, Scholtz G. 1994. Morphological evidence for a hermit crab ancestry of eithodids (Crustacea, Decapoda, Anomala, Paguroidea). Zoologischer Anzeiger 233: 187–210.
- Riek EF. 1972. The phylogeny of the Parastacidae (Crustacea: Astacoidea) and description of a new genus of Australian freshwater crayfishes. *Australian Journal of Zoology* 20: 369–389.
- Saint-Brisson de SC. 1985. The mating behavior of *Penaeus paulensis* Pérez-Farfante, 1967 (Decapoda, Penaeidea). *Crustaceana* 50: 108–110.
- Saint Laurent de M. 1972. Un Thalassinide nouveau du golfe de Gascogne, Calastacus laevis sp. nov. Remarques sur le genre Calastacus Faxon. (Crustacea Decapoda Axiidae). Bulletin du Muséum national d'histoire naturelle Paris (3) 35 (Zool. 29): 347–356.
- Saint Laurent de M. 1973. Sur la systématique et la phylogénie des Thalassinidea: définition des familles des Callianassidae et des Upogebiidae et diagnose de cinq genres nouveaux (Crustacea Decapoda). Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de l'academie des sciences Paris (D) 277: 513–516.
- Saint Laurent de M. 1979a. Sur la classification et la phylogénie des Thalassinides: définition de la

superfamille des Axoidea, de la sous-famille des Thomassiniinae et de deux genres nouveaux (Crustacea Decapoda). Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des seances de l'academie des sciences Paris (D) 288: 1395-1397.

- Saint Laurent de M. 1979b. Vers une nouvelle classification des Crustacés Décapodes Reptantia. Bulletin de l'Office national des Pêches Tunisie 3: 15-31.
- Saint Laurent de M. 1980a. Sur la classification et la phylogénie des Crustacés Décapodes Brachyoures.
  I. Podotremata Guinot, 1977, et Eubrachyura sect. nov. Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de l'academie des sciences Paris (D) 290: 1265–1268.
- Saint Laurent de M. 1980b. Sur la classification et la phylogénie des Crustacés Décapodes Brachyoures. II. Heterotremata et Thoracotremata Guinot, 1977. Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de l'academie des sciences Paris (D) 290: 1317–1320.
- Saint Laurent de M. 1988. Enoplometopoidea, nouvelle superfamille de Crustacés Décapodes Astacidea. Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de l'academie des sciences Paris (D) 307: 59-62.
- Sakai K. 1962. Systematic studies on Thalassinidea, I. Laomedia astacina DE HAAN. Publications of the Seto Marine Biological Laboratory 10: 27–34, pl. 5–7.
- Sandeman DC, Scholtz G, Sandeman RE. 1993. Brain evolution in decapod Crustacea. Journal of Experimental Zoology 295: 112-133.
- Sandeman R, Sandeman D. 1991. Stages in the development of the embryo of the fresh-water crayfish Cherax destructor. Roux's Archives of Developmental Biology 200: 27-37.

Sayed MS. 1963. The central nervous system of Petrolisthes cinctipes (Randall). Crustaceana 5: 251-256.

- Scholtz G. 1984. Untersuchungen zur Bildung und Differenzierung des postnauplialen Keimstreifs von Neomysis integer LEACH (Crustacea, Malacostraca, Peracarida). Zoologische Jahrbücher. Abteilung Anatomie und Ontogenie der Tiere. 112: 295–349.
- Scholtz G. 1992. Cell lineage studies in the crayfish *Cherax destructor* (Crustacea, Decapoda): germ band formation, segmentation, and early neurogenesis. *Roux's Archives of Developmental Biology* 202: 36–48.
- Scholtz G. 1993. Teloblasts in decapod embryos: an embryonic character reveals the monophyletic origin of freshwater crayfishes (Crustacea, Decapoda). Zoologischer Anzeiger 230: 45-54.
- Scholtz G. 1995. Ursprung und Evolution der Flußkrebse. Sitzungsberichte der Gesellschaft Naturforschender Freunde zu Berlin (in press).
- Schram FR. 1986. Crustacea. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sims HW. Jr. 1966. The phyllosoma larvae of the spiny lobster *Palinurellus gundlachi* Von Martens (Decapoda, Palinuridae). *Crustaceana* 11: 205–215.
- Snodgrass RE. 1951. Comparative studies on the head of mandibulate arthropods. Ithaca: Comstock Publishing Company, Inc.
- Spears T, Abele LG, Kim W. 1992. The monophyly of brachyuran crabs: a phylogenetic study based on 18S rRNA. *Systematic Biology* 41: 446–461.
- Subramoniam T. 1984. Spermatophore formation in two intertidal crabs Albunea symnista and Emerita asiatica (Decapoda: Anomura). Biological Bulletin 166: 78–95.

Thiriot A. 1974. Larves de Décapodes Macrura et Anomura, espèces européennes; charactères morphologiques et observations écologiques. *Thalassia Jugoslavica* 10: 341–378.

Tudge CC. 1991. Spermatophore diversity within and among the hermit crabs families, Coenobitidae, Diogenidae, and Paguridae (Paguridea, Anomura, Decapoda). *Biological Bulletin* 181: 238–247.

Warner GF. 1977. The biology of crabs. London: P. Elek.

Watrous LE, Wheeler QD. 1981. The out-group comparison method of character analysis. Systematic Zoology 30: 1-11.

Wear RG. 1970. Some larval stages of *Petalomera wilsoni* (Fulton & Grant, 1902) (Decapoda, Dromiidae). *Crustaceana* 18: 1-12.

Wear RG. 1976. Studies on the larval development of *Metanephrops challengeri* (Balss, 1914) (Decapoda, Nephropidae). *Crustaceana* 30: 113–122.

Williamson DI. 1974. Larval characters and the origin of crabs (Crustacea, Decapoda, Brachyura). Thalassia Jugoslavica. 10: 401–414.

Williamson DI. 1988. Evolutionary trends in larval form. In: Fincham AA, Rainbow PS, eds. Aspects of decapod crustacean biology. Symposium of the Zoological Society London 59: 11–25.

Zehnder H. 1934. Über die Embryonalentwicklung des Flusskrebses. Acta Zoologica 15: 261-408.

Note added in proof:

In a recent cladistic analysis using mainly spermatozoal data our view of brachyuran monophyly including the 'Dromiacea' has been supported (Jamieson, BGM. (1994) Phil. Trans. R. Soc. London B **345**: 373–393). However, Jamieson's suggestions concerning the relationships within the Brachyura differ considerably from our proposal.

328